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DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
 

February 8, 2023 
8:30 a.m. – 9:30 a.m. 

 
Florida Polytechnic University 

WEBEX TELE-CONFERENCE MEETING 
                                                        

I. Call to Order 
 
Committee Chair Mark Bostick called the Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 
meeting to order at 8:32 a.m. 
 
President Avent welcomed and introduced new trustee, Dr. David Williams. 
 

II. Roll Call 
 
Sherri Pavlik called the roll: Committee Chair Mark Bostick, Committee Vice-Chair Laine 
Powell, Board Chair Cliff Otto, Trustee Bob Stork, and Trustee David Williams were present 
(Quorum) 
 
Other Trustees present: Trustee Narendra Kini, Trustee Gary Wendt, and Trustee Melia 
Rodriguez 
 
Staff present: President Randy Avent, Provost Terry Parker, David Fugett, David Blanton, 
Mike Dieckmann, Dr. Allen Bottorff, Melaine Schmiz, Alex Landback, Kristen Wharton, and 
Sherri Pavlik 
 

III. Public Comment 
 
There were no requests received for public comment. 
 

IV. Approval of Minutes 
 
Committee Vice Chair Laine Powell made a motion to approve the Governance, 
Audit, and Compliance Committee meeting minutes of November 15, 2022. Trustee 
Bob Stork seconded the motion; a vote was taken, and the motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

V. 2022-24 Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee Work Plan 
 
David Blanton, Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Audit Executive, advised the committee 
that some of the slated items for audit and compliance would not be presented due to 
timing; however, there was no reason to change the work plan at this time. 
 

VI. Audit and Compliance Update 
 
Blanton provided the committee with an update on Audit and Compliance external and 
internal audits. The updates included the following: 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance 
Committee Meeting 



 
 

External Audits: 
 

1. Information Technology Audit: This audit is near completion. IT operations and 
security are being closely reviewed by three qualified auditors within the Auditor 
General’s office; 

2. Financial Audit: This audit is in progress; and, 
3. Operational Audit: An operational audit will start in late spring or summer, and it will 

focus on the previous fiscal year. 
 
Internal Audits: 
 

1. Performance Based Funding (PBF) Data Integrity Audit: This audit is completed; 
2. Foreign Influence Audit: The University is currently exempt from most statutory 

requirements; Blanton is collaborating with other departments and stakeholders to 
establish a framework for compliance when the University does meet the threshold 
requirements; and,  

3. Crowe Audit: The Foundation hired an additional employee to correct the segregation 
of duties finding. Once appropriate controls have been established with the new 
employee, University Audit will conduct a follow-up review to ensure the finding is 
appropriately addressed. 

 
VII.  PBF Data integrity Audit and Data Integrity Certification 

 
Blanton stated the Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Audit was completed as 
required, and in time for the required submission to the BOG by March 1. Blanton shared 
there are no reportable matters with either the Performance Based Funding Data Integrity 
Audit or the Data Integrity Certification. 
 
Trustee Bob Stork inquired about the numbers to which Blanton reported that they will not 
be known until later in the year. President Randy Avent expanded stating the previous year’s 
numbers are in and he estimates that the numbers for this audit to be above 70 points. He 
then informed the committee that Provost Parker will discuss previous year’s numbers in 
more detail during the Academic and Student Affairs Committee. 
 
Board Chair Cliff Otto made a motion to recommend approval to the Board of 
Trustees of the Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit and the related 
PBF Certification. Committee Vice Chair Laine Powell seconded the motion; a vote 
was taken, and the motion passed unanimously. 
 

VIII. Foundation Financial Audit 
 
Blanton provided the committee with an overview of the Foundation’s Financial Audit for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. He explained the audit consists of two different reports: 
 

1. Independent Audit Report  
2. Internal Control over Financial Reporting, Compliance and Other Matters 

 
Both reports came in clean. There was one significant deficiency from the prior year, over 
restricted donations, which has been corrected. 
 

IX. Board Self-Assessment 
 
David Fugett, Vice President and General Counsel, reminded the committee that Board self-
assessment is slated for 2023. The last self-assessment was in 2018 conducted by AGB for 
$14,000. In review of the report with staff, it has been determined that this could be done 
internally.  



 
 

 
The committee discussed how the format should be conducted: externally or internally. 
Trustee Stork felt an external audit should be done every 5 years, with internal audits in 
between. He stated he would like to see this discussed during the full Board meeting.    
 
Board Chair Otto stated SACSCOC’s accreditation standards strongly recommend a self-
assessment. He reviewed the AGB audit with staff and believes the Board can obtain the 
same quality of report from Florida Poly staff. He recommends an internal audit for the next 
self-assessment. 
 
Trustee Laine Powell inquired on the details of the self-assessment and how it would affect 
staff workload. Fugett stated the self-assessment would entail questions on how the Board 
is working with the work plan, strategic planning, communications, civil discourse, among 
other questions. He then explained that internal reports are more time efficient for both the 
Board and staff. Results from an assessment are easily obtained and would be similar in 
format to the President’s evaluation.  
 
Discussion continued on when to conduct a self-assessment. Board Chair Otto suggested 
the fall as it would allow new members to accommodate to the structure of the Board and 
allow an additional two meetings with face-to-face interactions that have been stalled due 
to the pandemic and hurricanes. 
 
This was for discussion only. 
 

X. Resolution on the Powers and Duties of the President 
 
David Fugett informed the committee of the Board of Governors decision to withdraw the 
reference of University Presidents serving as Corporate Secretary in their Regulation 1.001 
University Board of Trustees Powers and Duties. 
 
The revised resolution presented removed references to the President serving as Corporate 
Secretary. In addition, language was modified under Property and Purchasing for 
clarification. 
 
Trustee Bob Stork made a motion to recommend approval of the Resolution on the 
Powers and Duties of the President to the Board of Trustees. Trustee David 
Williams seconded the motion; a vote was taken, and the motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

XI. Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws to the Board of Trustees 
 
Fugett informed the committee that similar to the changes in the Powers and Duties of the 
President, changes were made to the Bylaws to be consistent with the changes from the 
Board of Governors.  
 
The amended Bylaws removes the President as Corporate Secretary, gives the authority to 
the Chair and the President to appoint a University employee to serve as Corporate 
Secretary, provides a means for the Board Chair to terminate the Corporate Secretary, and 
amends the duties of the Corporate Secretary. 
 
Other changes included revising the listing of Standing Committees to make them current 
and accurate. 
 
Board Chair Cliff Otto made a motion to recommend approval of the Fifth Amended 
and Restated Bylaws to the Board of Trustees. Trustee David Williams seconded 
the motion; a vote was taken, and the motion passed unanimously. 



 
 

X. Closing Remarks and Adjournment 
 
Committee Chair Mark Bostick thanked the committee and with no further business to 
discuss, adjourned the meeting at 9:13 a.m. 
 

    
 



AGENDA ITEM: V. 
  

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject: 2022-2024 Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committees Work Plan 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

 
Review only. No action required.  
 

Background Information 
 

Committee Chair Mark Bostick will review the Committee’s 2022-2024 Work Plan. 
 

 
 
Supporting Documentation: Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee Work Plan 
2022-2024 
 
Prepared by: David Fugett, VP and General Counsel 
   
 
    



 
 

 

 
GOVERNANCE, AUDIT, AND COMPLIANCE 

 
 

Committee Work Plan  
 
 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee Work Plan 
2022-2024 

  
 
 

 
• Review Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee Charter (review every two years – due 

September 2022) 
 

Governance: 
•  Make recommendation on the trustee evaluation instrument to be used for President’s 

annual review 
• Review President's Outcome Metrics (for prior FY) 
• Review President's Powers and Duties (if needed) 

 
Audit and Compliance: 

• University Operational Audit – Auditor General (minimum every three years) 
• UAC Annual Report (prior FY) 
• UAC Risk Assessment and Audit Plan (current FY) 
• University Compliance and Ethics Program Plan (current FY) 
• Performance Based Funding Audit Scope Approval 

 
 
 

Governance: 
•  Make recommendations to the Board on President’s evaluation outcome and 

compensation changes 
•  Make recommendation to Board on renewal of President’s employment agreement 

and any necessary changes to the agreement 
 

Audit and Compliance:  
•   Textbook Affordability Monitoring Report (Fall semester) 

 
 
 
Governance: 
•  Review Board Bylaws (review every 3 years – due 2024) 

• Discuss nominations for Board Chair and Vice Chair (every 2 years - due February 2024) 
• Oversee Board self-assessment (every 5 years – due February 2023) 

 
Audit and Compliance: 
• Performance Based Funding Audit and Data Integrity Certification 
• University Annual Financial Audit (prior FY) 
• Foundation 990 Financial Audit (prior FY) 

 

SEPTEMBER 
 

NOVEMBER 
 

FEBRUARY 
 



 
 

 

 
GOVERNANCE, AUDIT, AND COMPLIANCE 

 
 

Committee Work Plan  
 
 
 
 
Governance: 
• Make recommendation to Board on President’s proposed goals for FY+1 
• Discuss Board training needs 
• Make recommendation on nominations for Board Chair and Vice Chair (every two years – 

due May 2024) 
 

Audit and Compliance:  
• Textbook Affordability Monitoring Report (Spring semester) 
• Bright Futures Audit (review and approve every two years – due June 2024) 

 

JUNE 



AGENDA ITEM: VI.  
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject:  Audit & Compliance Update 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

 
Information only – no action required. 
 

Background Information 
 

David Blanton, Chief Audit Executive/Chief Compliance Officer (CAE/CCO) will provide the 
Committee with an update of all University audit and compliance activity including the status 
of all external audits and University Audit & Compliance activities and plans.   

 
 
Supporting Documentation: N/A 
 
Prepared by: David A. Blanton, CAE/CCO   



AGENDA ITEM: VI.B.  
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject:  Textbook Adoption Monitoring Review – Spring 2023 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

  
Information only. No action required.  
 

Background Information 
 

University Compliance conducted a monitoring review over textbook adoptions, to determine 
compliance with State law. State law requires each university to post prominently in the 
course registration system and on its website, as early as feasible, but at least 45 days before 
the first day of class for each term, a hyperlink to lists of required and recommended 
textbooks and instructional materials for at least 95 percent of all courses and course 
selections offered at the university during the upcoming term.  

The university contracts with a bookstore vendor (vendor) to manage and operate the 
bookstore. The university notifies the vendor of adoptions and the vendor is responsible for 
subsequently posting the adopted textbooks and instructional materials on the vendor 
website.  At the request of the university, the vendor provided a course file report evidencing 
the dates that (1) university staff communicated the adoption and (2) the subsequent posting 
of such information by the vendor to their website.     

In conducting this interim monitoring review, University Compliance included a review of the 
vendor course file, university records, analytical review procedures, and inquiries to arrive at 
the conclusions reached and summarized in the monitoring review report.  This monitoring 
report assists the Committee in their oversight responsibility and consideration of this matter 
which has been cited as audit findings in several recent operational audits. 
 

 
 
Supporting Documentation: UAC Report No. 2023-06, Textbook Adoptions Compliance 
Monitoring Review   
 
Prepared by:  David A. Blanton, CAE/CCO   



 

 

 

 

 

 

Report No:  FPU 2023-06 
 

February 2023 
 

University Audit & Compliance 
Textbook Adoptions  

Compliance Monitoring Review 
Spring 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

David A. Blanton, CPA, CCEP 
Chief Audit Executive and Chief Compliance Officer 
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University Audit & Compliance 
Textbook Adoptions Compliance Monitoring Review 

Spring 2023 Semester 
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I. Background and Monitoring Approach…………….….…………………….………….. 3 

II. Entrance/Exit Conference….…………………………..………………..…….……….... 3 

III. Monitoring Results………………………………………………………..…….……..... 4 

IV. Findings/Instances of Non-compliance…………………..……….…….………………. 5 

V. Other Observations…………………………….…………………….…..….……….….. 6 

VI. References and Technical Assistance……………………………………....………….... 7 

 

 

 

 

 

University Audit and Compliance (UAC) is employed by the University.  UAC’s mission is to serve the University by 
recommending actions to assist in achieving its strategic and operational objectives.  This assistance includes 
evaluating and providing assurance of activities designed and implemented by management to strengthen internal 
controls, reduce risk to and waste of resources, and improve operations to enhance the performance and reputation 
of the University.  Accordingly, this report is intended solely for the use of University management and its various 
oversight authorities and is not intended for any other purpose.  This restriction is not intended to limit the 
distribution of this report, which is a matter of public record. 



 

Report No. FPU 2023-06 
 
University Audit & Compliance 
4700 Research Way 
Lakeland, Florida 33805 
Floridapoly.edu 

 

Textbook Adoptions Compliance Monitoring Review       3 | P a g e  
 

I.     Background and Monitoring Approach 

Pursuant to the Audit Work Plan1 approved by the Audit & Compliance Committee, University 
Audit and Compliance (UAC) conducted a monitoring review over compliance with textbook 
affordability laws2 for the Spring 2023 semester.  This monitoring review was performed as a 
result of the risk assessment prepared by UAC for the 2022-23 fiscal year and as a result of 
recurring findings in the State Auditor General’s operational audits3.  The university may be 
subjected to additional oversight and accountability4 by both the Board of Governors and the Joint 
Legislative Auditing Committee due to the recurrence of noncompliance in this area for the last 
three operational audits.  

State law2 requires each university to post prominently in the course registration system and on its 
website, as early as feasible, but at least 45 days before the first day of class for each term, a 
hyperlink to lists of required and recommended textbooks and instructional materials for at least 
95 percent of all courses and course selections offered at the university during the upcoming term. 
Additionally, new legislation requires each university to maintain textbook listings in a searchable 
database and that such information is archived for the last five years. 

The university contracts with a bookstore vendor (vendor) to manage and operate the bookstore. 
The university notifies the vendor of adoptions, and the vendor is responsible for subsequently 
posting the adopted textbooks and instructional materials on the vendor website.  At the request of 
the university, the vendor provided a course file report evidencing the dates that (1) university staff 
communicated the adoption and (2) the subsequent posting of such information by the vendor to 
their website.     

Procedures performed by UAC in conducting this monitoring review included review of the vendor 
course file and university records, analytical review procedures, and inquiries to arrive at the 
conclusions reached in Section III of this report.  This monitoring review and the related report 
was not conducted pursuant to Institute of Internal Auditing Standards.  

II.     Entrance/Exit Conference 

Entrance Conference:  At the inception of the monitoring review, UAC communicated with 
university academic and institutional research staff to explain the purpose and the scope of the 
monitoring review and to establish a timeline for completion.   
Exit Conference:  At the conclusion of the monitoring review, UAC communicated with university 
academic and institutional research staff to discuss the results of the review.  A summary of the 
findings/observations was provided, and corrective action was discussed.   

 
1 UAC Compliance and Ethics Program Plan for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023. 
2 Section 1004.085(5), Florida Statutes 
3 Auditor General operational audit report Nos. 2016-067, 2018-214, and 2021-008.  
4 Pursuant to BOG Regulation 4.004 and Section 11.45(7)(j), Florida Statutes.  
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III.     Monitoring Results 

UAC performed monitoring procedures over textbook adoptions and compliance with applicable 
laws for the Spring 2023 semester.  Table 1 below outlines various compliance requirements 
applicable to this review and provides an indication as to whether appropriate controls have been 
designed and implemented to ensure compliance for each requirement.  Detailed findings for any 
noncompliance referenced in the tables below are included in Section IV of this report.   

Table 1 - Textbook Affordability Compliance Criteria Finding # 
1. The university complied with the requirement that a hyperlink to lists of required 

and recommended textbooks and instructional materials for at least 95 percent 
of all courses and course selections offered at the University for the Spring 2023 
term was prominently posted in the course registration system and on its website 
at least 45 days prior to the first day of class. 

 - 

2. Exceptions to the compliance deadline were properly submitted in writing to the 
designated university official and outlined reasonable justification for the 
exception in accordance with Board of Governors (BOG) Regulation 8.003(1)(h). 

 - 

3. The University accurately and timely reported textbook adoptions to the 
Chancellor of the State University System by September 30, 2022, as required5.   - 

4. The list of required and recommended instructional materials included the 
International Standard Book Number (ISBN) or all other required identifying 
information which must include, at a minimum, all of the following: the title, all 
authors listed, publishers, edition number, copyright date, published date, and 
other relevant information necessary to identify the specific textbooks or 
instructional materials required and recommended for each course.6 

 - 

5. The list of required and recommended instructional materials was searchable by 
course subject, course number, course title, instructor name, title of textbook or 
instructional material, and by author.6 

 - 

6. The list of required and recommended instructional materials was easily 
downloadable by current and prospective students.  - 

7. The list of required and recommended instructional materials was complete and 
included all courses offered in the Spring 2023 term.  1 

8. The list of required and recommended instructional materials remained posted 
for at least 5 academic years. n/a - 

LEGEND:   

 Appropriate controls in place to ensure compliance for this requirement. 
 Processes need to be enhanced to ensure compliance for this requirement. 

 
5 The “Textbook and Instructional Materials Affordability Annual Report” was presented to and approved by the 
Florida Poly Board of Trustees on September 28, 2022 and was accepted by the BOG on September 30, 2022. 
6 Although certain information required by law was missing (course subject, course title, publication date, and 
copyright date) UAC concluded that sufficient information was available to comply with the spirit of the law. 
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IV.     Findings/Instances of Non-compliance 

As noted in Table 2 below, the university complied with the requirement that a hyperlink to lists 
of required and recommended textbooks and instructional materials for at least 95 percent of all 
courses and course selections offered at the University for the Spring 2023 term was prominently 
posted in the course registration system and on its website at least 45 days prior to the first day of 
class. 

  Table 2 
Textbook and Instructional Materials  

Textbook Posting Dates7 
Spring 2023 Term 

Timely Course Sections 320 
Late Course Sections    0 
Total Course Sections 320 
  
Percent Timely 100% 

 

UAC was able to conclude that the University had established appropriate controls to ensure 
material compliance with the timeliness of textbook adoption requirements; however, as noted 
below, certain enhancements are necessary to ensure full compliance with the revised law. 

Finding 1:  University Listing of Instructional Materials - Completeness 

Significant changes to existing State law8 were enacted that require the university to maintain 
listings of instructional materials and textbooks.  These changes, identified in Table 1 items 4 
through 8, represent the newly enacted requirements.  In addition to the information posted and 
made available to students by the bookstore vendor, the university maintains its own listing on the 
university Registrar’s webpage.  In reviewing what the new legislation requires and what the 
university has implemented for the Spring 2023 semester, UAC noted the following matters that 
require enhanced controls and/or processes to ensure conformance with the new requirements: 

 UAC noted that 12 course sections posted by the bookstore vendor for Spring 2023 were 
not included on the listing published by the university.  UAC was advised that course 
sections not included on the university’s listing were due to courses added after the 
45-day deadline.  Controls and processes should be enhanced to reconcile both listings 
to ensure all course sections are posted on the university’s final listing. 

 
7Posting date as reflected in vendor course file report and/or University listing dated 7/8/22.  
8 Section 1004.085, Florida Statutes (2022), effective 7/1/22.  
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The university will enhance controls to ensure that final course offerings are reconciled and in 
agreement with final courses offered to address noncompliance noted above.  

V.     Other Observations 

As summarized in table 3 below, UAC performed similar compliance monitoring reviews for 
previous semesters.  The results of recent monitoring efforts indicate the university has  maintained 
compliance with State law over timely adoptions for the last five semesters. 

 

  Table 3 
Textbook and Instructional Material Adoptions 

Historical Compliance Review Summary 
Term UAC Report No. Result 
Spring 2023 2023-06 Compliant 
Fall 2022 2023-04 Compliant 
Spring 2022 2022-07 Compliant 
Fall 2021 2022-05 Compliant 
Spring 2021 2021-07 Compliant 
Fall 2020 2021-05 Non-compliant9 

 

BOG Regulations over textbook adoptions were amended in September 2020 to require innovative 
pricing techniques and payment options for course materials include opt-out and opt-in provisions 
for students.  In the most recent Annual Textbook and Instructional Materials Affordability Report 
filed with the BOG (2022), the university indicated that the opt-in provision was evaluated through 
the bookstore vendor and did not identify any cost savings due to low volume.  The University 
responded that this option would continue to be evaluated over time.    

Additionally, the university continues to work with the bookstore vendor to include certain missing 
information identified in Table 1, Compliance Item #4, and has indicated that all SUS institutions 
are experiencing this same challenge.   

UAC would like to extend gratitude to Zaira Medina for her assistance with these monitoring 
efforts and for enhancing controls to ensure compliance.   

 

  

 
9 Compliance review concluded that the university adopted timely; however, new bookstore vendor did not 
maintain sufficient evidence/records of posting necessary to demonstrate compliance with State law. 
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VI.     References and Technical Assistance 

Listed below are the applicable guidelines and other information related to textbook adoption 
compliance used by UAC to set the scope of this monitoring review: 

 Florida Poly Regulation FPU-5.003, Textbook and Instructional Materials Selection and 
Affordability 

 Section 1004.085(5), Florida Statutes 
 Section 1004.085(7), Florida Statutes 
 BOG Regulation 8.003, Textbook and Instructional Materials Affordability 

 



AGENDA ITEM: VI.C.  
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 
Subject:  Foundation Form 990 (2021 Return for June 30, 2022 Fiscal Year Ending) 

 
 

Proposed Committee Action 
 
Information only. No action required. 
 

Background Information 
 

FPU Policy 10.002(17) requires that each DSO shall submit its federal Internal Revenue 
Service Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax form (Form 990) to the President.  
BOG Regulation 9.011(6) requires that Form 990 be submitted to the university board of 
trustees or designee at the times required by the applicable regulation or policy of the board 
of trustees. Copies of such forms shall also be provided by each university to the Board of 
Governors. The Foundation’s 2021 form 990 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, was 
recently completed by independent certified public accountants. 
 
As part of its oversight responsibility of the Foundation, the Committee should review the 
Foundation’s Form 990 and consider whether the information reported to the IRS is consistent 
with Foundation responsibilities in support of the university. 
 

 
 
Supporting Documentation: Foundation’s 2021 Form 990 prepared by Carr, Riggs & 
Ingram for FYE22 
 
Prepared by:  David A. Blanton, CAE/CCO 
 



January 30, 2023

Florida Polytechnic University  
Foundation, Inc  
4700 Research Way  
Lakeland, FL  33805  

Florida Polytechnic University Foundation, Inc:  

Enclosed is the organization's 2021 Exempt Organization return.

Specific filing instructions are as follows.

FORM 990 RETURN:

This return has qualified for electronic filing.  After you have reviewed the return for completeness and 
accuracy, please sign, date and return Form 8879-TE to our office.  We will transmit the return 
electronically to the IRS and no further action is required.  Return Form 8879-TE to us by May 15, 2023.

A copy of the return is enclosed for your files.  We suggest that you retain this copy indefinitely.

Very truly yours,

Catherine Haug



TAX RETURN FILING INSTRUCTIONS
FORM 990

FOR THE YEAR ENDING
June 30, 2022 

Prepared For:

Florida Polytechnic University
Foundation, Inc
4700 Research Way
Lakeland, FL  33805

Prepared By:

Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC
600 Cleveland Street, Suite 1000
Clearwater, FL  33755

Amount Due or Refund:

Not applicable

Make Check Payable To:

Not applicable

Mail Tax Return and Check (if applicable) To:

Not applicable 

Return Must be Mailed On or Before:

Not applicable 

Special Instructions:

This return has qualified for electronic filing.  After you have reviewed the return for 
completeness and accuracy, please sign, date and return Form 8879-TE to our office 
using our secure file transfer website – https://cricpa.sharefile.com/share/filedrop .  We 
will transmit the return electronically to the IRS and no further action is required.  Return 
Form 8879-TE to us by May 15, 2023  































































































AGENDA ITEM: VI.D.  
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject:  University Financial Audit FYE22 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

 
Information only. No action required. 
 

Background Information 
 

In accordance with Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, a financial audit was performed on the 
University’s basic financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, by the Florida 
Auditor General. David Blanton, Chief Audit Executive/Chief Compliance Officer (CAE/CCO) 
will present the results of the financial audit to the Committee for their review and 
consideration.     
 
With respect to university financial audits, the Audit and Compliance Committee (AACC) 
Charter requires that the AACC shall receive and review Auditor General financial statement 
audits related to the University and conducted for the purpose of determining whether the 
University: 
 

a. Presented the basic financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles; 

b. Established and implemented internal controls over financial reporting and compliance 
with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the financial 
statements; and 

c. Complied with the various provisions of laws, rules, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements that are material to the financial statements. 

 
This includes receiving and reviewing any disclosure of:  
 

i) Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of 
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the System’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data;  
(none noted); and  

ii) Any fraud, whether material or not, that involves management or other employees 
who have a significant role in the System’s internal controls. (none noted) 

 
 

 
Supporting Documentation:  
 

1. Florida Polytechnic University Financial audit report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022. (Auditor General Report No. 2023-137) 

2. Summary of audit in Audit & Compliance Update (PowerPoint) 
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Board of Trustees and President 

During the 2021-22 fiscal year, Dr. Randy K. Avent served as President of Florida Polytechnic 

University and the following individuals served as Members of the Board of Trustees:  

Clifford “Cliff” K. Otto, Chair Dr. Laine Powell 
R. Mark Bostick, Vice Chair Melia Rodriguez from 4-28-22 b 
Dr. Ala J. Alnaser through 5-5-22 a Dr. W. Earl Sasser 
Samantha Ashby through 4-27-22 b Lyn D. Stanfield 
Beth Kigel Robert W. Stork 
Dr. Narendra Kini Gary C. Wendt 
Dr. Susan LeFrancois from 5-6-22 a  
a Faculty Senate Chair. 
b Student Body President. 

Note: Two Trustee positions were vacant the entire period. 

The Auditor General conducts audits of governmental entities to provide the Legislature, Florida’s citizens, public entity 

management, and other stakeholders unbiased, timely, and relevant information for use in promoting government 

accountability and stewardship and improving government operations. 

The team leader was Pakeishia L. Johnson, and the audit was supervised by Mark A. Arroyo, CPA.   

Please address inquiries regarding this report to Jaime N. Hoelscher, CPA, Audit Manager, by e-mail at 

jaimehoelscher@aud.state.fl.us or by telephone at (850) 412-2868. 

This report and other reports prepared by the Auditor General are available at: 

FLAuditor.gov 

Printed copies of our reports may be requested by contacting us at: 

State of Florida Auditor General 

Claude Pepper Building, Suite G74 · 111 West Madison Street · Tallahassee, FL 32399-1450 · (850) 412-2722 

http://flauditor.gov/
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SUMMARY 

SUMMARY OF REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our audit disclosed that the basic financial statements of Florida Polytechnic University (a component 

unit of the State of Florida) were presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with prescribed 

financial reporting standards.  

SUMMARY OF REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE 

Our audit did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to 

be material weaknesses.  

The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 

reported under Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

AUDIT OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE 

Our audit objectives were to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole were free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that included our opinion.  In doing so we: 

 Exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks.   

 Obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control.   

 Evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluated the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Concluded whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 Examined various transactions to determine whether they were executed, in both manner and 
substance, in accordance with governing provisions of laws, rules, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements.   

An examination of Federal awards administered by the University is included within the scope of our 

Statewide audit of Federal awards administered by the State of Florida. 

AUDIT METHODOLOGY 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America and applicable standards contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 

Comptroller General of the United States. 
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Phone:  (850) 412-2722 
 Fax:  (850) 488-6975 

Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 
Auditor General 

AUDITOR GENERAL 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
Claude Denson Pepper Building, Suite G74 

111 West Madison Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450 

The President of the Senate, the Speaker of the 
 House of Representatives, and the 
  Legislative Auditing Committee 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of Florida Polytechnic University, a component unit of the State of 

Florida, and its discretely presented component unit as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and 

the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial 

statements as listed in the table of contents.   

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial 

statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of Florida 

Polytechnic University and of its discretely presented component unit as of June 30, 2022, and the respective 

changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the fiscal year then ended in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.   

We did not audit the financial statements of the discretely presented component unit, which represent 

100 percent of the transactions and account balances of the discretely presented component unit columns.  

Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, 

insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the discretely presented component unit, is based solely on 

the report of the other auditors.   

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of our report.  We are required to be independent of the University and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 

in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
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Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 2. to the financial statements, the University adopted new accounting guidance 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87, Leases, which is a change in accounting 

principle that addresses accounting and financial reporting for leases.  This affects the comparability of 

amounts reported for the 2021-22 fiscal year with amounts reported for the 2020-21 fiscal year.  Our opinion 

is not modified with respect to this matter.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as 

a going concern for 12 months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information 

that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.   

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered 

material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 

judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.   

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the University’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 
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We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 

that we identified during the audit.   

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that MANAGEMENT’S 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, the Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Total Other 

Postemployment Benefits Liability, Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net 

Pension Liability – Florida Retirement System Pension Plan, Schedule of University Contributions – 

Florida Retirement System Pension Plan, Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net 

Pension Liability – Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan, Schedule of University Contributions – 

Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan, and Notes to Required Supplementary Information, be 

presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management 

and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 

statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited 

procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 

preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 

inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 

financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 

limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 8, 2023, on 

our consideration of the Florida Polytechnic University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 

tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, rules, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 

other matters included under the heading INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 

OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 

STANDARDS.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part 

of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Florida 

Polytechnic University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 
Tallahassee, Florida 
March 8, 2023  
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the financial position and 

activities of the University for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and should be read in conjunction with 

the financial statements and notes thereto.  The MD&A, and financial statements and notes thereto, are 

the responsibility of University management.  The MD&A contains financial activity of the University for 

the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022, and June 30, 2021. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The University’s assets and deferred outflows of resources totaled $234.7 million at June 30, 2022.  This 

balance reflects a $17.3 million, or 7.9 percent, increase as compared to the 2020-21 fiscal year, resulting 

from increases in investments, due from State, and lease receivable.  While assets and deferred outflows 

of resources grew, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources also increased by $4.3 million, or 

13.3 percent, totaling $36.6 million at June 30, 2022, resulting from increases in construction contracts 

payable and deferred inflows of resources for lease receivable.  As a result, the University’s net position 

increased by $13 million, resulting in a year-end balance of $198.1 million. 

The University’s operating revenues totaled $7.4 million for the 2021-22 fiscal year, representing a 

7.4 percent decrease compared to the 2020-21 fiscal year due mainly to a downturn in auxiliary sales.  

Operating expenses totaled $61.1 million for the 2021-22 fiscal year, essentially unchanged from the 

prior fiscal year. 

Net position represents the residual interest in the University’s assets and deferred outflows of 

resources after deducting liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.  The University’s comparative total 

net position by category for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022, and June 30, 2021, is shown in the 

following graph:   
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Net Position 

(In Thousands) 

 

The following chart provides a graphical presentation of University revenues by category for the 

2021-22 fiscal year:   

Total Revenues 
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Pursuant to the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 35, the University’s 

financial report consists of three basic financial statements:  the statement of net position; the statement 

of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and the statement of cash flows.  The financial 

statements, and notes thereto, encompass the University and its component unit.  Based on the 
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Inc., (Foundation) is included within the University reporting entity as a discretely presented component 

unit.   

Information regarding the Foundation’s separately issued financial statements is presented in the notes 

to financial statements.  This MD&A focuses on the University, excluding the discretely presented 

component unit. 

The Statement of Net Position 

The statement of net position reflects the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred 

inflows of resources of the University, using the accrual basis of accounting, and presents the financial 

position of the University at a specified time.  Assets, plus deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities, 

less deferred inflows of resources, equals net position, which is one indicator of the University’s current 

financial condition.  The changes in net position that occur over time indicate improvement or deterioration 

in the University’s financial condition.   

The following summarizes the University’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred 

inflows of resources, and net position at June 30:   

Condensed Statement of Net Position at June 30 

(In Thousands) 

2022 2021

Assets
Current Assets 46,159$   39,878$   
Capital Assets, Net 173,463   164,196   
Other Noncurrent Assets 5,208      346         

Total Assets 224,830   204,420   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 9,821      12,968    

Liabilities
Current Liabilities 5,936      2,976      
Noncurrent Liabilities 14,964    25,177    

Total Liabilities 20,900    28,153    

Deferred Inflows of Resources 15,661    4,121      

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 169,641   163,279   
Restricted 2,398      1,078      
Unrestricted 26,051    20,757    

Total Net Position 198,090$ 185,114$ 
 

The University’s statement of net position changes were the result of the following factors:   

 Capital assets increased $9.3 million due to the final construction phase of the Applied Research 
Center (ARC) building offset by additions to accumulated depreciation. 
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 Current assets increased $6.3 million from $3.7 million in State Public Education Capital Outlay 
(PECO) funds that are due to the University for the ARC construction and $2.6 million in timing 
for constructions payments.   

 Other noncurrent assets increased $4.9 million due to the recognition of $3.9 million in a lease 
receivable due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, accounting standard 
and $1 million restricted investments for construction. 

 Deferred outflows and inflows of resources changes are due to the actuarial assumptions in 
pension and OPEB transactions discussed in depth in the notes to these financial statements.  In 
addition, deferred inflows of resources increased $4.1 million due to the implementation of 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents the University’s revenue and 

expense activity, categorized as operating and nonoperating.  Revenues and expenses are recognized 

when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received or paid.   

The following summarizes the University’s activity for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal years:  

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
For the Fiscal Years  

(In Thousands) 

2021-22 2020-21

Operating Revenues 7,407$       8,001$      
Less, Operating Expenses 61,119       61,292      

Operating Loss (53,712)      (53,291)     
Net Nonoperating Revenues 54,457       49,128      

Income (Loss) Before Other Revenues 745            (4,163)       
Other Revenues 12,231       82            

Net Increase (Decrease) In Net Position 12,976       (4,081)       

Net Position, Beginning of Year 185,114     189,195    

Net Position, End of Year 198,090$    185,114$   
 

Operating Revenues 

GASB Statement No. 35 categorizes revenues as either operating or nonoperating.  Operating revenues 

generally result from exchange transactions where each of the parties to the transaction either gives or 

receives something of equal or similar value. 

The following summarizes the operating revenues by source that were used to fund operating activities 

for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal years:   
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Operating Revenues 
For the Fiscal Years 

(In Thousands) 

2021-22 2020-21

Student Tuition and Fees, Net 1,608$     1,883$      
Grants and Contracts 1,114       720          
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises 4,584       5,264       
Other 101          134          

Total Operating Revenues 7,407$     8,001$      
 

The following chart presents the University’s operating revenues for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal 

years: 

Operating Revenues 

(In Thousands) 

 

University operating revenues decreased primarily due to a drop in auxiliary sales. 

Operating Expenses 

Expenses are categorized as operating or nonoperating.  The majority of the University’s expenses are 

operating expenses as defined by GASB Statement No. 35.  GASB gives financial reporting entities the 

choice of reporting operating expenses in the functional or natural classifications.  The University has 

chosen to report the expenses in their natural classification on the statement of revenues, expenses, and 

changes in net position and has displayed the functional classification in the notes to financial statements.  

The following summarizes operating expenses by natural classification for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal 

years:  
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Operating Expenses 
For the Fiscal Years  

(In Thousands) 

2021-22 2020-21

Compensation and Employee Benefits 28,311$    27,638$   
Services and Supplies 16,278     17,990    
Utilities and Communications 893          671         
Scholarships, Fellowships, and Waivers 10,291     9,488      
Depreciation 5,346       5,505      

Total Operating Expenses 61,119$    61,292$   
 

The following chart presents the University’s operating expenses for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal 

years: 

Operating Expenses 

(In Thousands) 

 

Operating expenses were essentially unchanged from the prior fiscal year. 

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 

Certain revenue sources that the University relies on to provide funding for operations, including State 

noncapital appropriations, Federal and State student financial aid, and investment income are defined by 
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Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  
For the Fiscal Years  

(In Thousands) 

2021-22 2020-21

State Noncapital Appropriations 42,752$   37,986$   
Federal and State Student Financial Aid 10,160    9,706      
Investment Income 299         1,158      
Other Nonoperating Revenues 2,936      2,636      
Unrealized Loss on Investments (1,672)     (2,353)     
Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt (18)          (5)           

Net Nonoperating Revenues 54,457$   49,128$   
 

Changes in nonoperating revenue were the result of the University receiving its first performance-based 

funding allocation of $4.7 million in additional State noncapital appropriations.   

Other Revenues 

This category is composed of State capital appropriations.  The following summarizes the University’s 

other revenues for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal years:   

Other Revenues 
For the Fiscal Years  

(In Thousands) 

2021-22 2020-21

State Capital Appropriations 12,231$    82$          
 

State capital appropriations increased because the University received PECO funding for the remaining 

balance of the ARC building construction.   

The Statement of Cash Flows 

The statement of cash flows provides information about the University’s financial results by reporting the 

major sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents.  This statement will assist in evaluating the 

University’s ability to generate net cash flows, its ability to meet its financial obligations as they come 

due, and its need for external financing.  Cash flows from operating activities show the net cash used by 

the operating activities of the University.  Cash flows from capital financing activities include all plant 

funds and related long-term debt activities.  Cash flows from investing activities show the net source and 

use of cash related to purchasing or selling investments and earning income on those investments.  Cash 

flows from noncapital financing activities include those activities not covered in other sections. 

The following summarizes cash flows for the 2021-22 and 2020-21 fiscal years:   
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Condensed Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Fiscal Years 

(In Thousands) 

2021-22 2020-21

Cash Provided (Used) by:
Operating Activities (47,461)$  (49,101)$  
Noncapital Financing Activities 55,848    50,329    
Capital and Related Financing Activities (2,908)     (18,286)   
Investing Activities (6,021)     17,890    

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (542)        832         
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 1,050      218         

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 508$       1,050$    
 

Major sources of funds came from State noncapital appropriations ($42.8 million), Federal and State 

student financial aid ($10.2 million), State capital appropriations ($8.8 million), sales and services of 

auxiliary enterprises ($4.6 million), other nonoperating receipts ($2.9 million), Federal Direct Loan 

Program receipts ($2.4 million), and net student tuition and fees ($1.6 million).  Major uses of funds were 

for payments to and behalf of employees ($27.9 million), payments to suppliers ($17.5 million), purchase 

or construction of capital assets ($11.5 million), payments to students for scholarships and fellowships 

($10.3 million), and Federal Direct Loan Program disbursements ($2.4 million).   

CAPITAL ASSETS, CAPITAL EXPENSES AND COMMITMENT, 
AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

At June 30, 2022, the University had $215 million in capital assets, less accumulated depreciation of 

$41.5 million, for net capital assets of $173.5 million.  Depreciation charges for the current fiscal year 

totaled $5.3 million.  The following table summarizes the University’s capital assets, net of accumulated 

depreciation, at June 30:   

Capital Assets, Net at June 30 

(In Thousands) 

2022 2021

Land 18,156$    18,156$    
Construction in Progress 1,182       31,107     
Buildings 123,925    83,042     
Infrastructure and Other Improvements 25,794     27,402     
Furniture and Equipment 2,036       1,760       
Lease Assets 257          -              
Other Capital Assets 2,113       2,729       

Capital Assets, Net 173,463$  164,196$  
 

Additional information about the University’s capital assets is presented in the notes to financial 

statements. 
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Capital Expenses and Commitment 

Major capital expenses through June 30, 2022, were incurred for the Reclaimed Water Project.  The 

University’s construction commitment at June 30, 2022, is as follows: 

Amount
(In Thousands)

Total Committed 1,816$             
Completed to Date 1,182              

Balance Committed 634$               
 

Additional information about the University’s construction commitment is presented in the notes to 

financial statements. 

Debt Administration 

As of June 30, 2022, the University had $310,000 in outstanding leases payable, representing an 

increase of $228,000, or 278 percent, from the prior fiscal year.  The following table summarizes the 

outstanding long-term debt by type for the fiscal years ended June 30:  

Long-Term Debt at June 30 

(In Thousands) 

2022 2021

Leases Payable 310$      82$        
 

Additional information about the University’s long-term debt is presented in the notes to financial 

statements.   

ECONOMIC FACTORS THAT WILL AFFECT THE FUTURE 

The University’s economic condition is closely tied to that of the State of Florida.  Because of limited 

economic growth and increased demand for State resources, a $2.2 million decrease in State funding 

from a reduction in performance-based funding is anticipated in the 2022-23 fiscal year.  The budget that 

the Florida Legislature adopted for the 2022-23 fiscal year remained status quo for State universities.  

Florida Polytechnic University received an additional $5 million for operational enhancements that is 

expected to be a recurring item.  The University does not expect an increase in revenue from student 

tuition and fees for the 2022-23 fiscal year because we have reached capacity in providing students with 

housing.   

Florida Polytechnic University is seeking authorization to issue debt, via bonds issued by the Florida 

Division of Bond Finance, in an amount not to exceed $74 million to finance (1) the proposed acquisition 

on an existing privately owned and operated student housing facility (Phase 2) by the University, and 

(2) the design and construction of a new student housing facility (Phase 3) (collectively, the Project) on 

the University’s campus.  Phase 2 is a 539 bed, approximately 131,500 gross square-foot facility, 

with primarily 2-bed semi-suite (double occupancy) units.  Phase 3 is anticipated to be a 430 bed, 

approximately 136,900 gross square-foot facility, with primarily a mixture of 2, 3, and 4-bed full-suite 
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(single and double occupancy) units.  Importantly, the Project will allow the University to gain control over 

the majority of its existing on-campus student housing and directly address excess demand for on-

campus housing, which will facilitate student success and enrollment growth.  Phase 2 and Phase 3 will 

be the first two facilities comprising the University’s Housing System. 

Capstone Development Partners, LLC (Capstone) was selected by the University for the design-build of 

Phase 3.  The University does not currently have adequate staff and infrastructure to manage all of the 

operations and maintenance of a housing system; therefore, the University has engaged Capstone to 

manage a portion of the operations and management.  Capstone will be paid a property management 

fee and an asset management fee that will be considered an operational expense of the auxiliary system. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

Questions concerning information provided in the MD&A or other required supplemental information, and 

financial statements and notes thereto, or requests for additional financial information should be 

addressed to the Penelope Farley, Vice President for Financial & Administration, University Controller, 

Florida Polytechnic University, 4700 Research Way, Lakeland, Florida 33805-8531. 
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
A Component Unit of the State of Florida 

Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2022 

Component
University Unit

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 508,040$         218,072$      
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents -                      409,614        
Investments 39,932,217       162,142        
Accounts Receivable, Net  44,031             -                   
Contributions Receivable, Net -                      622,398        
Interest Receivable 38,821             -                   
Contracts and Grants Receivable 824,417           -                   
Due from State 3,703,014        -                   
Due from Component Unit  6,405               -                   
Lease Receivable 231,610           -                   
Other Current Assets 870,292           -                   

Total Current Assets 46,158,847       1,412,226     

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Investments 1,320,090        5,933,781     
Contributions Receivable, Net -                      1,781,087     
Lease Receivable 3,888,764        -                   
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net  154,125,482     -                   
Nondepreciable Capital Assets 19,337,666       -                   

Total Noncurrent Assets 178,672,002     7,714,868     

Total Assets 224,830,849     9,127,094     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Other Postemployment Benefits 5,540,496        -                   
Pensions 4,280,250        -                   

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 9,820,746        -                   

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 495,651           25,739          
Construction Contracts Payable 3,511,961        -                   
Salary and Wages Payable 1,065,742        -                   
Deposits Payable 170,816           -                   
Due to State 1,419               -                   
Due to University -                      6,405            
Unearned Revenue 201,390           -                   
Other Current Liabilities -                      2,750,000     
Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion:

Leases Payable 180,340           -                   
Compensated Absences Payable 149,585           -                   
Other Postemployment Benefits Payable 141,468           -                   
Net Pension Liability 17,659             -                   

Total Current Liabilities 5,936,031        2,782,144     
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Component
University Unit

LIABILITIES (Continued)
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Leases Payable 129,613         -                   
Compensated Absences Payable 1,346,267      -                   
Other Postemployment Benefits Payable 7,944,181      -                   
Net Pension Liability 5,544,310      -                   

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 14,964,371     -                   

Total Liabilities 20,900,402     2,782,144     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Other Postemployment Benefits 3,180,683      -                   
Pensions 8,359,876      -                   
Lease Receivable 4,120,374      -                   

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 15,660,933     -                   

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 169,641,233   -                   
Restricted for Nonexpendable:

Endowment -                    3,532,862     
Restricted for Expendable:

Capital Projects 2,049,244      -                   
Grants and Loans 348,835         -                   
Other -                    2,005,233     

Unrestricted 26,050,948     806,855        

TOTAL NET POSITION 198,090,260$ 6,344,950$    
 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
A Component Unit of the State of Florida 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

Component
University Unit

REVENUES
Operating Revenues:

Student Tuition and Fees, Net of Scholarship
  Allowances of $6,640,133 1,607,971$      -$                 
Federal Grants and Contracts 717,306           -                   
State and Local Grants and Contracts 138,441           -                   
Nongovernmental Grants and Contracts 258,558           -                   
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises 4,583,960        -                   
Contributions, Net -                     2,916,398     
Other Operating Revenues 100,943           251              

Total Operating Revenues 7,407,179        2,916,649     

EXPENSES
Operating Expenses:

Compensation and Employee Benefits 28,310,917      -                   
Services and Supplies 16,277,999      599,719        
Utilities and Communications 893,565           -                   
Scholarships, Fellowships, and Waivers 10,290,586      570,309        
Depreciation 5,346,185        125,651        

Total Operating Expenses 61,119,252      1,295,679     

Operating Income (Loss) (53,712,073)     1,620,970     

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State Noncapital Appropriations 42,752,100      -                   
Federal and State Student Financial Aid 10,159,979      -                   
Investment Income 299,009           451,309        
Other Nonoperating Revenues 2,936,112        -                   
Unrealized Loss on Investments (1,671,999)       (1,448,398)    
Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt (18,407)            -                   

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 54,456,794      (997,089)       

Income Before Other Revenues 744,721           623,881        

State Capital Appropriations 12,231,086      -                   

Increase in Net Position 12,975,807      623,881        

Net Position, Beginning of Year 185,114,453     5,721,069     

Net Position, End of Year 198,090,260$   6,344,950$    
 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.    
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FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
A Component Unit of the State of Florida 

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

University

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Student Tuition and Fees, Net 1,607,971$    
Grants and Contracts 878,587        
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises 4,583,960     
Payments to Employees (27,941,396)   
Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services (17,545,826)   
Payments to Students for Scholarships and Fellowships (10,290,586)   
Other Operating Receipts 1,246,639     

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities (47,460,651)   

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
State Noncapital Appropriations 42,752,100    
Federal and State Student Financial Aid 10,159,979    
Federal Direct Loan Program Receipts 2,432,566     
Federal Direct Loan Program Disbursements (2,432,566)    
Other Nonoperating Receipts 2,936,112     

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 55,848,191    

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
State Capital Appropriations 8,818,829     
Purchase or Construction of Capital Assets (11,499,076)   
Principal Paid on Capital Debt and Leases (209,471)       
Interest Paid on Capital Debt and Leases (18,407)         

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities (2,908,125)    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Investments 50,324,422    
Purchases of Investments (56,633,053)   
Investment Income 287,128        

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (6,021,503)    

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (542,088)       
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 1,050,128     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 508,040$      
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University

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS
  TO NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Loss (53,712,073)$   
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss
  to Net Cash Used by Operating Activities:

Depreciation Expense 5,346,185       
Changes in Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows of Resources,
  and Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Receivables, Net 706,711          
Due from Component Unit (6,405)            
Other Assets (204,548)         
Accounts Payable (164,579)         
Salaries and Wages Payable 98,785            
Deposits Payable 108,881          
Compensated Absences Payable (47,721)           
Unearned Revenue 94,386            
Other Liabilities 1,270             
Other Postemployment Benefits Payable 539,651          
Net Pension Liability (10,787,977)    
Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to Pensions 2,404,118       
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 7,683,725       
Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to Other Postemployment Benefits 742,947          
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Other Postemployment Benefits (264,007)         

NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (47,460,651)$   

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND 
  CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(1,671,999)$    

437,160$        

Unrealized losses on investments were recognized as a reduction to
investment income on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in
net position, but are not cash transactions for the statement of cash flows.

The University recorded lease assets and leases payable which were
recognized on the statement of net position but are not cash transactions for
the statement of cash flows.

 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Reporting Entity.  The University is a separate public instrumentality that is part of the State university 

system of public universities, which is under the general direction and control of the Florida Board of 

Governors.  The University is directly governed by a Board of Trustees (Trustees) consisting of 

13 members.  The Governor appoints 6 citizen members and the Board of Governors appoints 5 citizen 

members.  These members are confirmed by the Florida Senate and serve staggered terms of 5 years.  

The chair of the faculty senate and the president of the student body of the University are also members.  

The Board of Governors establishes the powers and duties of the Trustees.  The Trustees are responsible 

for setting policies for the University, which provide governance in accordance with State law and Board 

of Governors’ Regulations, and selecting the University President.  The University President serves as 

the executive officer and the corporate secretary of the Trustees and is responsible for administering the 

policies prescribed by the Trustees. 

Criteria for defining the reporting entity are identified and described in the Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board’s (GASB) Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, 

Sections 2100 and 2600.  These criteria were used to evaluate potential component units for which the 

primary government is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and 

significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the 

primary government’s financial statements to be misleading.  Based on the application of these criteria, 

the University is a component unit of the State of Florida, and its financial balances and activities are 

reported in the State’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report by discrete presentation. 

Discretely Presented Component Unit.  Based on the application of the criteria for determining 

component units, the Florida Polytechnic University Foundation, Inc. (Foundation), a legally separate 

entity, is included within the University’s reporting entity as a discretely presented component unit and is 

governed by a separate board.  Florida Statutes authorize these organizations to receive, hold, invest, 

and administer property and to make expenditures to or for the benefit of the University.  The Foundation 

solicits, collects, manages, and directs contributions to various academic departments and programs of 

the University, and assists the University in fundraising, and public relations. 

An annual audit of the Foundation financial statements is conducted by independent certified public 

accountants.  Additional information on the Foundation, including copies of audit reports, is available by 

contacting the University Controller. 

Basis of Presentation.  The University’s accounting policies conform with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America applicable to public colleges and universities as 

prescribed by GASB.  The National Association of College and University Business Officers (NACUBO) 

also provides the University with recommendations prescribed in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles promulgated by GASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  

GASB allows public universities various reporting options.  The University has elected to report as an 

entity engaged in only business-type activities.  This election requires the adoption of the accrual basis 

of accounting and entitywide reporting including the following components:   
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 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

 Basic Financial Statements: 

o Statement of Net Position 

o Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

o Statement of Cash Flows 

o Notes to Financial Statements 

 Other Required Supplementary Information 

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting.  Basis of accounting refers to when revenues, 

expenses, assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, are 

recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Specifically, it relates to the timing 

of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.  The University’s financial 

statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 

accounting.  Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and 

deferred inflows of resources resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized 

when the exchange takes place.  Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, deferred outflows of 

resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources resulting from nonexchange activities are 

generally recognized when all applicable eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met.  

The University follows GASB standards of accounting and financial reporting.   

The University’s discretely presented component unit uses the economic resources measurement focus 

and the accrual basis of accounting, and follows GASB standards of accounting and financial reporting.  

Significant interdepartmental sales between auxiliary service departments and other institutional 

departments have been eliminated from revenues and expenses for reporting purposes. 

The University’s principal operating activities consist of instruction, research, and public service.  

Operating revenues and expenses generally include all fiscal transactions directly related to these 

activities as well as administration, operation and maintenance of capital assets, and depreciation of 

capital assets.  Nonoperating revenues include State noncapital appropriations, Federal and State 

student financial aid, and investment income.  Unrealized losses on investments and interest on capital 

asset-related debt are nonoperating expenses.  Other revenues generally include revenues for capital 

construction projects. 

The statement of net position is presented in a classified format to distinguish between current and 

noncurrent assets and liabilities.  When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available to fund 

certain programs, it is the University’s policy to first apply the restricted resources to such programs, 

followed by the use of the unrestricted resources. 

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position is presented by major sources and is 

reported net of tuition scholarship allowances.  Tuition scholarship allowances are the difference between 

the stated charge for goods and services provided by the University and the amount that is actually paid 

by the student or the third-party making payment on behalf of the student.  The University applied the 

“Alternate Method” as prescribed in NACUBO Advisory Report 2000-05 to determine the reported net 

tuition scholarship allowances.  Under this method, the University computes these amounts by allocating 
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the cash payments to students, excluding payments for services, using a ratio of total aid to aid not 

considered third-party aid. 

The statement of cash flows is presented using the direct method in compliance with GASB Statement 

No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities 

That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and cash in demand 

accounts.  University cash deposits are held in banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law.  

All such deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, up to specified limits, or 

collateralized with securities held in Florida’s multiple financial institution collateral pool required by 

Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 

Capital Assets.  University capital assets consist of land, construction in progress, buildings, 

infrastructure and other improvements, furniture and equipment, library resources, lease assets, and 

other capital assets.  These assets are capitalized and recorded at cost at the date of acquisition or at 

acquisition value at the date received in the case of gifts and purchases of State surplus property.  

Additions, improvements, and other outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset are 

capitalized.  Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  The University 

has a capitalization threshold of $5,000 for tangible personal property, $100,000 for infrastructure and 

other improvements, and $250,000 for building improvements, except that all new buildings and projects 

adding new footage are capitalized.  Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the following 

estimated useful lives: 

 Buildings – 20 to 50 years 

 Infrastructure and Other Improvements – 15 to 30 years 

 Furniture and Equipment – 3 to 15 years 

 Library Resources – 10 years 

 Lease Assets – 3 to 5 years 

 Other Capital Assets – 10 years 

Noncurrent Liabilities.  Noncurrent liabilities include leases payable, compensated absences payable, 

other postemployment benefits payable, and net pension liabilities that are not scheduled to be paid 

within the next fiscal year.   

Pensions.  For purposes of measuring the net pension liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and 

deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 

net positions of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) defined benefit plan and the Health Insurance 

Subsidy (HIS) defined benefit plan and additions to/deductions from the FRS and HIS fiduciary net 

positions have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the FRS and the HIS plans.  

Benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable 

in accordance with benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.   
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2. Reporting Change 

The University implemented GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, which establishes a single model for lease 

accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right-to-use, an 

underlying asset.  Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible 

right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of 

resources.  The University participates as the lessee and lessor in current lease contracts.  This change 

is reflected in Note 5., and Note 10.  There was no effect to beginning net position.  

3. Investments 

Section 1011.42(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes universities to invest funds with the State Treasury and 

State Board of Administration (SBA) and requires that universities comply with the statutory requirements 

governing investment of public funds by local governments.  Accordingly, universities are subject to the 

requirements of Chapter 218, Part IV, Florida Statutes.  The Board of Trustees has adopted a written 

investment policy providing that surplus funds of the University shall be invested in those institutions and 

instruments permitted under the provisions of Florida Statutes.  Pursuant to Section 218.415(16), 

Florida Statutes, the University is authorized to invest in the Florida PRIME investment pool administered 

by the SBA; Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit 

quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency; interest-bearing time deposits and savings 

accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; direct obligations 

of the United States Treasury; obligations of Federal agencies and instrumentalities; securities of, or 

interests in, certain open end or closed end management type investment companies; and other 

investments approved by the Board of Trustees as authorized by law.   

Investments set aside to purchase or construct capital assets are classified as restricted.   

The University categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 

generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 

measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets, 

Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs, and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable 

inputs.   

All of the University’s recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2022, are valued based on the 

University’s share of the pool (Level 3 inputs). 

The University’s investments at June 30, 2022, are reported as follows:   

Quoted Prices Significant 
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Investments by fair value level Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

External Investment Pool:
  State Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account 41,252,307$   -$                     -$                     41,252,307$      

Total investments 41,252,307$   

Fair Value Measurements Using
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External Investment Pool. 

The University reported investments at fair value totaling $41,252,307 at June 30, 2022, in the State 

Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA) investment pool, representing ownership of a 

share of the pool, not the underlying securities.   

Pooled investments with the State Treasury are not registered with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission.  Oversight of the pooled investments with the State Treasury is provided by the Treasury 

Investment Committee per Section 17.575, Florida Statutes.  The authorized investment types are set 

forth in Section 17.57, Florida Statutes.  The State Treasury SPIA investment pool carried a credit rating 

of AA-f by Standard & Poor’s, had an effective duration of 2.66 years, and fair value factor of 0.9479 at 

June 30, 2022.  Participants contribute to the State Treasury SPIA investment pool on a dollar basis.  

These funds are commingled, and a fair value of the pool is determined from the individual values of the 

securities.  The fair value of the securities is summed, and a total pool fair value is determined.  A fair 

value factor is calculated by dividing the pool’s total fair value by the pool participant’s total cash balances.  

The fair value factor is the ratio used to determine the fair value of an individual participant’s pool balance.  

The University relies on policies developed by the State Treasury for managing interest rate risk or credit 

risk for this investment pool.  Disclosures for the State Treasury investment pool are included in the notes 

to financial statements of the State’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.   

Component Unit Investments. 

The University discretely presented component unit’s investments at June 30, 2022, are reported at fair 

value as follows:   

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Investments by fair value level Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Mutual Funds:
   Bonds 2,013,928$        2,013,928$        -$                     -$                     
   Equity 4,081,995          4,081,995          -                       -                       

Total investments by fair value level 6,095,923$        6,095,923$        -$                     -$                     

Fair Value Measurements Using

 

4. Receivables 

Accounts, Interest, and Contracts and Grants Receivables.  Accounts, interest, and contracts and 

grants receivable represent amounts for student tuition and fees, contract and grant reimbursements due 

from third parties, various sales and services provided to students and third parties, and interest accrued 

on investments.  As of June 30, 2022, the University reported the following amounts as accounts, interest, 

and contracts and grants receivable:   
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Description Amount

Contracts and Grants 824,417$      
Student Tuition and Fees, Net 44,031          
Interest 38,821          

Total Receivables, Net 907,269$      
 

Allowance for Doubtful Receivables.  Allowances for doubtful accounts is reported based on 

management’s best estimate as of fiscal year end considering type, age, collection history, and other 

factors considered appropriate.  Accounts receivable are reported net of allowances of $18,571 at 

June 30, 2022.   

No allowance has been accrued for investment interest, lease receivable, and contracts and grants 

receivable.  University management considers these to be fully collectible. 

5. Lease Receivable 

Lease receivable represents a 30-year lease of educational spectrum bandwidth.  Current annual lease 

payments are $246,420 and rise $68,400 every 5 calendar years.  Lease revenue and interest revenue 

totaling $238,813 and $7,427, respectively, were received during the 2021-22 fiscal year.  Future annual 

lease payments expected to be received as of June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Interest Rates Principal Interest Total

2023 3.11% 231,610$        14,630$         246,240$        
2024 3.11% 255,822         24,618           280,440         
2025 3.58% 273,381         41,259           314,640         
2026 3.58% 263,942         50,698           314,640         
2027 3.58% 254,828         59,812           314,640         
2028-2032 3.58% - 4.11% 1,277,718       534,882         1,812,600       
2033-2037 4.11% - 4.73% 1,160,813       993,787         2,154,600       
2038-2039 4.73% 402,260         500,620         902,880         

Total Minimum Lease Payments 4,120,374$     2,220,306$     6,340,680$     
 

6. Due From State 

The amount due from State consists of $3,703,014 of Public Education Capital Outlay due from the State 

to the University for construction of University facilities.   

7. Due From Component Unit 

The amount due from component unit consists of amounts owed to the University by the Foundation 

pursuant to an agreement to support the University’s operations.   
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8. Capital Assets 

Capital assets activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, is shown in the following table:   

Beginning Ending
Description Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Nondepreciable Capital Assets:
Land 18,156,039$    -$                 -$                 18,156,039$   
Construction in Progress 31,107,356      13,237,657    43,163,386    1,181,627       

Total Nondepreciable Capital Assets 49,263,395$    13,237,657$  43,163,386$  19,337,666$   

Depreciable Capital Assets:
Buildings 97,268,009$    43,163,386$  -$                 140,431,395$ 
Infrastructure and Other Improvements 38,646,106      -                   -                   38,646,106     
Furniture and Equipment 8,730,456        938,660        -                   9,669,116       
Library Resources 16,358            -                   -                   16,358           
Lease Assets -                     437,160        -                   437,160         
Other Capital Assets 6,428,163        -                   -                   6,428,163       

Total Depreciable Capital Assets 151,089,092    44,539,206    -                   195,628,298   

Less, Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings 14,225,780      2,280,438     -                   16,506,218     
Infrastructure and Other Improvements 11,244,869      1,606,743     -                   12,851,612     
Furniture and Equipment 6,970,241        663,165        -                   7,633,406       
Library Resources 16,142            60                -                   16,202           
Lease Assets -                     180,398        -                   180,398         
Other Capital Assets 3,699,599        615,381        -                   4,314,980       

Total Accumulated Depreciation 36,156,631      5,346,185     -                   41,502,816     

Total Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 114,932,461$  39,193,021$  -$                 154,125,482$ 
 

9. Unearned Revenue 

Unearned revenue at June 30, 2022, includes prepaid contracts and grants as well as student tuition and 

fees received prior to fiscal year end related to subsequent accounting periods.  As of June 30, 2022, the 

University reported the following amounts as unearned revenue: 

Description Amount

Contracts and Grants 120,787$      
Student Tuition and Fees 80,603          

Total Unearned Revenue 201,390$      
 

10. Long-Term Liabilities 

Long-term liabilities of the University at June 30, 2022, include leases payable, compensated absences 

payable, other postemployment benefits payable, and net pension liability.  Long-term liabilities activity 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, is shown in the following table:  
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Beginning Ending Current
Description Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion

Leases Payable 82,264$        437,160$      209,471$      309,953$      180,340$      
Compensated Absences Payable 1,543,573     1,427,863     1,475,584     1,495,852     149,585        
Other Postemployment 
  Benefits Payable 7,545,998     1,282,598     742,947        8,085,649     141,468        
Net Pension Liability 16,349,946    4,256,558     15,044,535    5,561,969     17,659          

Total Long-Term Liabilities 25,521,781$  7,404,179$    17,472,537$  15,453,423$  489,052$      
 

Leases Payable.  Technology equipment in the amount of $745,217 and vehicles in the amount of 

$146,887 are being acquired under lease agreements.  The imputed interest rate is 4 percent for 

technology equipment and the stated interest rates range from 5.45 to 6.70 percent for vehicles.  Future 

minimum payments under the lease agreements and the present value of the minimum payments as of 

June 30, 2022, are as follows:   

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Total Principal Interest

2023 190,066$      180,340$      9,726$          
2024 87,780          83,846          3,934            
2025 41,363          40,199          1,164            
2026 5,693            5,568            125              

Total Minimum Lease Payments 324,902$      309,953$      14,949$        
 

Compensated Absences Payable.  Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for 

annual leave (vacation) and sick leave earned pursuant to Board of Governors’ Regulations, University 

regulations, and bargaining agreements.  Leave earned is accrued to the credit of the employee and 

records are kept on each employee’s unpaid (unused) leave balance.  The University reports a liability 

for the accrued leave; however, State noncapital appropriations fund only the portion of accrued leave 

that is used or paid in the current fiscal year.  Although the University expects the liability to be funded 

primarily from future appropriations, generally accepted accounting principles do not permit the recording 

of a receivable in anticipation of future appropriations.  At June 30, 2022, the estimated liability for 

compensated absences, which includes the University’s share of the Florida Retirement System and 

FICA contributions, totaled $1,495,852.  The current portion of the compensated absences liability, 

$149,585, is the amount expected to be paid in the coming fiscal year and represents a historical 

percentage of leave used applied to total accrued leave liability. 

Other Postemployment Benefits Payable.  The University follows GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting 

and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, for certain postemployment 

healthcare benefits administered by the State Group Health Insurance Program.   

General Information about the OPEB Plan 

Plan Description.  The Division of State Group Insurance’s Other Postemployment Benefits Plan 

(OPEB Plan) is a multiple-employer defined benefit plan administered by the State of Florida.  Pursuant 

to the provisions of Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, all employees who retire from the University are 

eligible to participate in the State Group Health Insurance Program.  Retirees and their eligible 
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dependents shall be offered the same health and hospitalization insurance coverage as is offered to 

active employees at a premium cost of no more than the premium cost applicable to active employees.  

A retiree means any officer or employee who retires under a State retirement system or State optional 

annuity or retirement program or is placed on disability retirement and who begins receiving retirement 

benefits immediately after retirement from employment.  In addition, any officer or employee who retires 

under the Florida Retirement System Investment Plan is considered a “retiree” if he or she meets the age 

and service requirements to qualify for normal retirement or has attained the age of 59.5 years and has 

the years of service required for vesting.  The University subsidizes the premium rates paid by retirees 

by allowing them to participate in the OPEB Plan at reduced or blended group (implicitly subsidized) 

premium rates for both active and retired employees.  These rates provide an implicit subsidy for retirees 

because retiree healthcare costs are generally greater than active employee healthcare costs.  No assets 

are accumulated in a trust that meet the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.  The 

OPEB Plan contribution requirements and benefit terms necessary for funding the OPEB Plan each year 

is on a pay-as-you-go basis as established by the Governor’s recommended budget and the General 

Appropriations Act.  Retirees are required to enroll in the Federal Medicare (Medicare) program for their 

primary coverage as soon as they are eligible. 

Benefits Provided.  The OPEB Plan provides healthcare benefits for retirees and their dependents.  The 

OPEB Plan only provides an implicit subsidy as described above.    

Proportionate Share of the Total OPEB Liability 

The University’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability of $8,085,649 was measured as of 

June 30, 2021, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2020.  At June 30, 2021, the 

University’s proportionate share, determined by its proportion of total benefit payments made, was 

0.08 percent, which was an increase of 0.01 from its proportionate share reported as of June 30, 2020.   

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs.  The total OPEB liability was determined using the following 

actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless 

otherwise specified:   

Inflation 2.60 percent 

Salary increases Varies by FRS class 

Discount rate 2.18 percent 

Healthcare cost trend rates 
  PPO 
 
 
  HMO 

 
7.78 percent for 2021, decreasing to an 
ultimate rate of 4.04 percent for 2076 and 
later years 
5.66 percent for 2021, decreasing to an 
ultimate rate of 4.04 percent for 2076 and 
later years 

Retirees’ share of benefit-related 
  costs 

100 percent of projected health insurance 
premiums for retirees  

 

The discount rate was based on the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) Municipal 20-year High Grade Rate Index. 

Mortality rates were based on PUB-2010 mortality tables with fully generational improvement with Scale 

MP-2018. 
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The demographic actuarial assumptions for retirement, disability incidence, and withdrawal used in the 

July 1, 2021, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period 

July 1, 2019, through July 1, 2020, adopted by the FRS.   

The following changes have been made since the prior valuation:  

 Discount Rate – The discount rate was updated to utilize the mandated discount rate based on a 
20-year S&P Municipal Bond Rate Index as of the measurement date, as required under 
GASB Statement No. 75.  The discount rate decreased from 2.66 percent to 2.18 percent. 

 Retirement – Retirement rates were updated based on those used in the actuarial valuation of 
the Florida Retirement System (FRS) as of July 1, 2019, with certain adjustments made to reflect 
the difference in the underlying populations.  60 percent of the Florida Division of State Group 
Insurance (DSGI) employees are assumed to become eligible for the Deferred Retirement Option 
Program (DROP), while the remaining 40 percent are assumed to participate in plans which do 
not offer DROP benefits.  Rates were previously those used in the actuarial valuation of FRS as 
of July 1, 2015.  This change decreased the Total OPEB Liability by about 7 percent as of the 
valuation date. 

 Termination – Termination rates were updated to those used in the actuarial valuation of the 
FRS as of July 1, 2019.  Previously, rates were those used in the actuarial valuation of the FRS as 
of July 1, 2015.  This change increased the Total OPEB Liability by about 3 percent as of the 
valuation date. 

 Disability – Disability rates were updated to those used in the actuarial valuation of the FRS as of 
July 1, 2019.  Previously, rates were those used in the actuarial valuation of FRS as of 
July 1, 2015.  This change increased the Total OPEB Liability by about 0.5 percent as of the 
valuation date. 

 Salary Scale – Salary increase rates were updated to those used in the actuarial valuation of the 
FRS as of July 1, 2019.  Previously, rates were those used in the actuarial valuation of FRS as of 
July 1, 2015.  This change increased the Total OPEB Liability by about 0.2 percent as of the 
valuation date. 

 Active Medical Plan Election Rate – Most actively employed participants in the Plan are health 
plan subscribers.  Those participants are assumed to continue their current health coverage into 
retirement at a rate of 47 percent.  For those who are not currently covered under the health plan, 
3.7 percent are assumed to elect medical coverage in retirement.  The resulting overall 
participation rate is 43 percent.  Previously, the overall participation rate was 50 percent.  This 
assumption is based on guidance provided by the DSGI on June 23, 2021.  This change resulted 
in an 8 percent decrease in the Total OPEB Liability as of the valuation date. 

Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount 

Rate.  The following table presents the University’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability, as well 

as what the University’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 

a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (1.18 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (3.18 percent) 

than the current rate: 

 

1% 
Decrease 

     (1.18%)      

Current 
Discount Rate 
      (2.18%)       

1% 
Increase 

     (3.18%)      

University’s proportionate share 
  of the total OPEB liability $10,701,313 $8,085,649 $6,201,441 
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Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates.  The following table presents the University’s proportionate share of the 

total OPEB liability, as well as what the University’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability would 

be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage 

point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:    

 1% Decrease  

Healthcare 
Cost Trend 
     Rates       1% Increase  

University’s proportionate share 
  of the total OPEB liability $5,853,000 $8,085,649 $11,352,466 

 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related 

to OPEB.   

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the University recognized OPEB expense of $1,162,573.  At 

June 30, 2022, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 

related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected
  and actual experience -$                         384,326$               
Change of assumptions or other inputs 869,614                 2,677,863              
Changes in proportion and differences
  between University benefit payments
  and proportionate share of benefit payments 4,526,900              118,494                 
Transactions subsequent to the 
  measurement date 143,982                 -                           

Total 5,540,496$            3,180,683$            
 

Of the total amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB, $143,982 resulting from 

transactions subsequent to the measurement date and before the end of the fiscal year will be included 

as a reduction of the total OPEB liability and included in OPEB expense in the year ended June 30, 2023.  

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:   

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Amount

2023 542,904$      
2024 542,904        
2025 542,904        
2026 215,178        
2027 334,110        
Thereafter 37,831          

Total 2,215,831$    
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Net Pension Liability.  As a participating employer in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), the 

University recognizes its proportionate share of the collective net pension liabilities of the 

FRS cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plans.  As of June 30, 2022, the University’s 

proportionate share of the net pension liabilities totaled $5,561,969.  Note 11. includes a complete 

discussion of defined benefit pension plans.  

11. Retirement Plans – Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

General Information about the Florida Retirement System (FRS).   

The FRS was created in Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, to provide a defined benefit pension plan for 

participating public employees.  The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement Option 

Program (DROP) under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide a defined contribution 

plan alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS members effective July 1, 2002.  This integrated 

defined contribution pension plan is the FRS Investment Plan.  Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, also 

provides for nonintegrated, optional retirement programs in lieu of the FRS to certain members of the 

Senior Management Service Class employed by the State and faculty and specified employees in the 

State university system.  Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, established the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy 

(HIS) Program, a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan to assist retired members 

of any State-administered retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance.   

Essentially all regular employees of the University are eligible to enroll as members of the 

State-administered FRS.  Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 

122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and 

FRS Rules, Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are 

defined and described in detail.  Such provisions may be amended at any time by further action from the 

Florida Legislature.  The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Florida Department of 

Management Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing multiple-employer 

defined benefit plans and other nonintegrated programs.  An annual comprehensive financial report of 

the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required supplementary information, actuarial report, 

and other relevant information, is available from the Florida Department of Management Services 

Web site (www.dms.myflorida.com). 

The University’s FRS and HIS pension expense totaled $671,424 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  

FRS Pension Plan 

Plan Description.  The FRS Pension Plan (Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 

pension plan, with a DROP for eligible employees.  The general classes of membership are as follows: 

 Regular Class – Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the other classes. 

 Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) – Members in senior management level positions. 

 Special Risk Class – Members who are employed as law enforcement officers and meet the 
criteria to qualify for this class.   

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at 6 years of creditable service and employees 

enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at 8 years of creditable service.  All vested members, 

enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 
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30 years of creditable service except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal 

retirement benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of creditable service.  All members enrolled in 

the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any 

time after 33 years of creditable service except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for 

normal retirement benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of creditable service.  Employees 

enrolled in the Plan may include up to 4 years of credit for military service toward creditable service.  The 

Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a 

member retires before his or her normal retirement date.  The Plan provides retirement, disability, death 

benefits, and annual cost-of-living adjustments to eligible participants.   

The DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for 

normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing 

employment with an FRS-participating employer.  An employee may participate in DROP for a period not 

to exceed 60 months after electing to participate.  During the period of DROP participation, deferred 

monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest.  The net pension liability does not 

include amounts for DROP participants, as these members are considered retired and are not accruing 

additional pension benefits.   

Benefits Provided.  Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age, and/or years of service, 

average final compensation, and credit service.  Credit for each year of service is expressed as a 

percentage of the average final compensation.  For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the 

average final compensation is the average of the 5 highest fiscal years’ earnings; for members initially 

enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the 8 highest fiscal 

years’ earnings.  The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by calculating the total 

value of all service, which is based on retirement plan and/or the class to which the member belonged 

when the service credit was earned.  Members are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and 

survivors’ benefits.  The following table shows the percentage value for each year of service credit 

earned:   

Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service % Value 

Regular Class members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011  

  Retirement up to age 62 or up to 30 years of service 1.60 

  Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service 1.63 

  Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service 1.65 

  Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service 1.68 

Regular Class members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011  

  Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service 1.60 

  Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service 1.63 

  Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service 1.65 

  Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service 1.68 

Senior Management Service Class 2.00 

Special Risk Class 3.00 
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As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member was initially enrolled in the Plan before 

July 1, 2011, and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual cost-of-living adjustment 

is 3 percent per year.  If the member was initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, and has service credit on 

or after July 1, 2011, there is an individually calculated cost-of-living adjustment.  The annual cost-of-living 

adjustment is a proportion of 3 percent determined by dividing the sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit 

by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3 percent.  Plan members initially enrolled on or after 

July 1, 2011, will not have a cost-of-living adjustment after retirement.   

Contributions.  The Florida Legislature establishes contribution rates for participating employers and 

employees.  Contribution rates during the 2021-22 fiscal year were:   

  Percent of Gross Salary  

Class Employee Employer (1) 

FRS, Regular 3.00 10.82 

FRS, Senior Management Service 3.00 29.01 

FRS, Special Risk 3.00 25.89 

Deferred Retirement Option Program (applicable to 
  members from all of the above classes) 

0.00 18.34 

FRS, Reemployed Retiree (2) (2) 

(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the postemployment health insurance subsidy.  
Also, employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include 0.06 percent for 
administrative costs of the Investment Plan. 

(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed. 

The University’s contributions to the Plan totaled $1,199,750 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.   

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 

Resources Related to Pensions.  At June 30, 2022, the University reported a liability of $2,053,821 for its 

proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of 

June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined 

by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2021.  The University’s proportionate share of the net pension 

liability was based on the University’s 2020-21 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2020-21 fiscal 

year contributions of all participating members.  At June 30, 2021, the University’s proportionate share 

was 0.027189017 percent, which was a decrease of 0.001869622 from its proportionate share measured 

as of June 30, 2020.   

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the University recognized pension expense of $163,278.  In addition, 

the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

pensions from the following sources:   
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Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected
  and actual experience 352,028$               -$                         
Change of assumptions 1,405,326              -                           
Net difference between projected and 
  actual earnings on FRS Plan investments -                           7,165,266              
Changes in proportion and differences between
  University contributions and proportionate share
  of contributions 404,861                 790,866                 
University FRS contributions subsequent to the 
  measurement date 1,199,750              -                           

Total 3,361,965$            7,956,132$            
 

The deferred outflows of resources totaling $1,199,750, resulting from University contributions 

subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the 

fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 

inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:   

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Amount

2023 (902,852)$     
2024 (1,168,257)    
2025 (1,612,277)    
2026 (2,050,445)    
2027 (60,086)         

Total (5,793,917)$   
 

Actuarial Assumptions.  The total pension liability in the July 1, 2021, actuarial valuation was determined 

using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:   

Inflation 2.40 percent 
Salary increases 3.25 percent, average, including inflation 
Investment rate of return 6.80 percent, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation 
 

Mortality rates were based on the PUB-2010 base table, projected generationally with Scale MP-2018.  

The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2021, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 

experience study for the period July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2018. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on historical returns, 

but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model.  The allocation policy’s 

description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below.  

Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes an 

adjustment for the inflation assumption.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and 

geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:  
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Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation (1) 

Annual 
Arithmetic 
   Return    

Compound 
Annual 

(Geometric) 
    Return     

Standard 
Deviation 

        
Cash 1.0% 2.1% 2.1% 1.1% 
Fixed Income 20.0% 3.8% 3.7% 3.3% 
Global Equity 54.2% 8.2% 6.7% 17.8% 
Real Estate (Property) 10.3% 7.1% 6.2% 13.8% 
Private Equity 10.8% 11.7% 8.5% 26.4% 
Strategic Investments 3.7% 5.7% 5.4% 8.4% 

Total 100.0%    

Assumed inflation - Mean   2.4% 1.2% 

(1) As outlined in the Plan’s investment policy. 

Discount Rate.  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.80 percent.  The 

Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 

of current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 

liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return.  The discount rate used in the 2021 valuation 

was unchanged from the previous valuation.   

Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 

Rate.  The following presents the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 

using the discount rate of 6.80 percent, as well as what the University’s proportionate share of the net 

pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower 

(5.80 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (7.80 percent) than the current rate:   

 

1% 
Decrease 

     (5.80%)      

Current 
Discount Rate 
      (6.80%)       

1% 
Increase 

     (7.80%)      

University’s proportionate share 
  of the net pension liability $9,184,826 $2,053,821 $(3,906,899) 

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position.  Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is 

available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State Administered Systems Annual 

Comprehensive Financial Report. 

HIS Pension Plan 

Plan Description.  The HIS Pension Plan (HIS Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 

pension plan established under Section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be amended by the Florida 

Legislature at any time.  The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of State-administered 

retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by the Florida Department 

of Management Services, Division of Retirement.   

Benefits Provided.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received 

a monthly HIS payment of $5 for each year of creditable service completed at the time of retirement with 

a minimum HIS payment of $30 and a maximum HIS payment of $150 per month, pursuant to 
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Section 112.363, Florida Statutes.  To be eligible to receive a HIS Plan benefit, a retiree under a 

State-administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance coverage, which can 

include Medicare.   

Contributions.  The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers as set 

by the Florida Legislature.  Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation for all active 

FRS members.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the contribution rate was 1.66 percent of payroll 

pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes.  The University contributed 100 percent of its statutorily 

required contributions for the current and preceding 3 years.  HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a 

separate trust fund from which HIS payments are authorized.  HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and 

are subject to annual legislative appropriation.  In the event the legislative appropriation or available funds 

fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all participants, benefits may be reduced or canceled.   

The University’s contributions to the HIS Plan totaled $171,519 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 

Resources Related to Pensions.  At June 30, 2022, the University reported a liability of $3,508,148 for its 

proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The current portion of the net pension liability is the 

University’s proportionate share of benefit payments expected to be paid within 1 year, net of the 

University’s proportionate share of the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net position available to pay that amount.  The 

net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to calculate 

the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2020, and update 

procedures were used to determine the net pension liability as of June 30, 2021.  The University’s 

proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the University’s 2020-21 fiscal year 

contributions relative to the total 2020-21 fiscal year contributions of all participating members.  

At June 30, 2021, the University’s proportionate share was 0.028599415 percent, which was a decrease 

of 0.002158611 from its proportionate share measured as of June 30, 2020.   

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the University recognized pension expense of $508,146.  In 

addition, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions from the following sources:  

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected
  and actual experience 117,391$               1,469$                  
Change of assumptions 275,662                 144,545                 
Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on HIS Plan investments 3,658                    -                           
Changes in proportion and differences between
  University HIS contributions and proportionate
  share of HIS contributions 350,055                 257,730                 
University HIS contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 171,519                 -                           

Total 918,285$               403,744$               
 



 

Report No. 2023-137  
March 2023 Page 37 

The deferred outflows of resources totaling $171,519, resulting from University contributions subsequent 

to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2023.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 

of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:   

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Amount

2023 217,853$      
2024 88,833          
2025 30,425          
2026 14,979          
2027 (1,363)           
Thereafter (7,705)           

Total 343,022$      
 

Actuarial Assumptions.  The total pension liability in the July 1, 2020, actuarial valuation was determined 

using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:   

Inflation 2.40 percent 

Salary increases 3.25 percent, average, including inflation 

Municipal bond rate 2.16 percent 
 

Mortality rates were based on the PUB-2010 base table, projected generationally with Scale MP-2018.   

While an experience study had not been completed for the HIS Plan, the actuarial assumptions that 

determined the total pension liability for the HIS Plan were based on certain results of the most recent 

experience study for the FRS Plan. 

Discount Rate.  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 2.16 percent.  In general, 

the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the single rate equivalent to 

discounting at the long-term expected rate of return for benefit payments prior to the projected depletion 

date.  Because the HIS benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion date is 

considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the municipal bond rate 

selected by the plan sponsor.  The Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was 

adopted as the applicable municipal bond index.  The discount rate used in the 2021 valuation was 

updated from 2.21 percent to 2.16 percent.   

Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 

Rate.  The following presents the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 

using the discount rate of 2.16 percent, as well as what the University’s proportionate share of the net 

pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower 

(1.16 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (3.16 percent) than the current rate:    
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1% 
Decrease 

     (1.16%)      

Current 
Discount Rate 
      (2.16%)       

1% 
Increase 

     (3.16%)      

University’s proportionate share 
  of the net pension liability $4,055,759 $3,508,148 $3,059,504 

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position.  Detailed information about the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net position is 

available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State Administered Annual 

Comprehensive Financial Report.   

12. Retirement Plans – Defined Contribution Pension Plans 

FRS Investment Plan.  The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the 

FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan).  The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA’s annual financial 

statements and in the State’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.   

As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in the 

Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan.  University employees already participating in 

the State University System Optional Retirement Program or DROP are not eligible to participate in the 

Investment Plan.  Employer and employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit 

depends in part on the performance of investment funds.  Service retirement benefits are based upon 

the value of the member’s account upon retirement.  Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, 

are established and may be amended by the Florida Legislature.  The Investment Plan is funded with the 

same employer and employee contributions, that are based on salary and membership class 

(Regular Class, Senior Management Service Class, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan.  Contributions 

are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and 

account balances among various approved investment choices.  Costs of administering the Investment 

Plan, including the FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded through an employer contribution of 

0.06 percent of payroll and by forfeited benefits of Investment Plan members.  Allocations to the 

Investment Plan member accounts during the 2021-22 fiscal year were as follows:  

Class 

Percent of 
Gross 

Compensation 

FRS, Regular 6.30 

FRS, Senior Management Service 7.67 

FRS, Special Risk Regular 14.00 
 

For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are vested 

after 1 year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings regardless of membership 

class.  If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under the FRS Pension 

Plan is transferred to the FRS Investment Plan, the member must have the years of service required for 

FRS Pension Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested 

for these funds and the earnings on the funds.  Nonvested employer contributions are placed in a 

suspense account for up to 5 years.  If the employee returns to FRS-covered employment within the 

5-year period, the employee will regain control over their account.  If the employee does not return within 
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the 5-year period, the employee will forfeit the accumulated account balance.  For the fiscal year ended 

June 30, 2022, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA; however, 

management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to the University.   

After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may roll over vested funds to another 

qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump-sum distribution, 

leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination of these options.  Disability coverage 

is provided in which the member may either transfer the account balance to the FRS Pension Plan when 

approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under the FRS Pension 

Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for retirement income.   

The University’s Investment Plan pension expense totaled $475,241 for the fiscal year ended 

June 30, 2022. 

State University System Optional Retirement Program.  Section 121.35, Florida Statutes, provides 

for an Optional Retirement Program (Program) for eligible university instructors and administrators.  The 

Program is designed to aid State universities in recruiting employees by offering more portability to 

employees not expected to remain in the FRS for 8 or more years.   

The Program is a defined contribution plan, which provides full and immediate vesting of all contributions 

submitted to the participating companies on behalf of the participant.  Employees in eligible positions can 

make an irrevocable election to participate in the Program, rather than the FRS, and purchase retirement 

and death benefits through contracts provided by certain insurance carriers.  The employing university 

contributes 5.14 percent of the participant’s salary to the participant’s account, 4.19 percent to cover the 

unfunded actuarial liability of the FRS pension plan, and 0.01 percent to cover administrative costs, for a 

total of 9.34 percent, and employees contribute 3 percent of the employee’s salary.  Additionally, the 

employee may contribute, by payroll deduction, an amount not to exceed the percentage contributed by 

the University to the participant’s annuity account.  The contributions are invested in the company or 

companies selected by the participant to create a fund for the purchase of annuities at retirement.   

The University’s contributions to the Program totaled $690,377, and employee contributions totaled 

$426,907 for the 2021-22 fiscal year.   

13. Construction Commitment 

The University’s construction commitment at June 30, 2022, was as follows:  

Total Completed Balance
Project Description Commitment to Date Committed

Reclaimed Water Project 1,816,156$    1,181,627$    634,529$      
 

The Reclaimed Water Project represents construction in progress at June 30, 2022.  The Applied 

Research Center reached substantial completion in May 2022 and is reflected in capital assets; however, 

there remains $1.3 million in commitments due to post construction items.   
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14. Risk Management Programs  

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 

of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  Pursuant to 

Section 1001.72(2), Florida Statutes, the University participates in State self-insurance programs 

providing insurance for property and casualty, workers’ compensation, general liability, fleet automotive 

liability, Federal Civil Rights, and employment discrimination liability.  During the 2021-22 fiscal year, for 

property losses, the State retained the first $2 million per occurrence for all perils except named 

windstorm and flood.  The State retained the first $2 million per occurrence with an annual 

aggregate retention of $40 million for named windstorm and flood losses.  After the annual aggregate 

retention, losses in excess of $2 million per occurrence were commercially insured up to $57.5 million for 

named windstorm and flood through February 14, 2022, and decreased to $56.3 million starting 

February 15, 2022.  For perils other than named windstorm and flood, losses in excess of $2 million per 

occurrence were commercially insured up to $167.5 million through February 14, 2022, and increased to 

$168.7 million starting February 15, 2022; and losses exceeding those amounts were retained by the 

State.  No excess insurance coverage is provided for workers’ compensation, general and automotive 

liability, Federal Civil Rights and employment action coverage; all losses in these categories are 

completely self-insured by the State through the State Risk Management Trust Fund established 

pursuant to Chapter 284, Florida Statutes.  Payments on tort claims are limited to $200,000 per person 

and $300,000 per occurrence as set by Section 768.28(5), Florida Statutes.  Calculation of premiums 

considers the cash needs of the program and the amount of risk exposure for each participant.  

Settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage during the past 3 fiscal years.   

Pursuant to Section 110.123, Florida Statutes, University employees may obtain healthcare services 

through participation in the State group health insurance plan or through membership in a health 

maintenance organization plan under contract with the State.  The State’s risk financing activities 

associated with State group health insurance, such as risk of loss related to medical and prescription 

drug claims, are administered through the State Employees Group Health Insurance Trust Fund.  It is the 

practice of the State not to purchase commercial coverage for the risk of loss covered by this Fund.  

Additional information on the State’s group health insurance plan, including the actuarial report, is 

available from the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of State Group Insurance.   

15. Litigation 

The University is involved in several pending and threatened legal actions.  The range of potential loss 

from all such claims and actions, as estimated by the University’s legal counsel and management, should 

not materially affect the University’s financial position.   

16. Functional Distribution of Operating Expenses 

The functional classification of an operating expense (instruction, research, etc.) is assigned to a 

department based on the nature of the activity, which represents the material portion of the activity 

attributable to the department.  For example, activities of an academic department for which the primary 

departmental function is instruction may include some activities other than direct instruction such as 

research and public service.  However, when the primary mission of the department consists of 

instructional program elements, all expenses of the department are reported under the instruction 



 

Report No. 2023-137  
March 2023 Page 41 

classification.  The operating expenses on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 

position are presented by natural classifications.  The following are those same expenses presented in 

functional classifications as recommended by NACUBO:   

Functional Classification Amount

Instruction 9,918,118$    
Research 2,877,372     
Public Services 280,891        
Academic Support 8,116,688     
Student Services 4,484,051     
Institutional Support 9,700,899     
Operation and Maintenance of Plant 5,615,608     
Scholarships, Fellowships, and Waivers 10,290,586    
Depreciation 5,346,185     
Auxiliary Enterprises 4,488,854     

Total Operating Expenses 61,119,252$  
 

17. Current Unrestricted Funds 

The Southern Association of Colleges and Schools, which establishes the accreditation requirements for 

institutions of higher education, requires a disclosure of the financial position of unrestricted net position, 

exclusive of plant assets and plant-related debt, which represents the change in unrestricted net position.  

To meet this requirement, statements of net position and revenues, expenses, and changes in net 

position for the current unrestricted funds are presented as follows:   
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Statement of Current Unrestricted Funds Net Position 

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 508,040$            
Investments 39,044,160         
Accounts Receivable, Net 44,031               
Interest Receivable 38,821               
Contracts and Grants Receivable 295,210             
Due From State 3,703,014           
Lease Receivable 231,610             
Other Current Assets 850,405             

   Total Current Assets 44,715,291         

Noncurrent Assets:
Lease Receivable 3,888,764           

TOTAL ASSETS 48,604,055         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Other Postemployment Benefits 5,540,496           
Pensions 4,280,250           

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 9,820,746           

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 287,110             
Salary & Wages Payable 1,065,742           
Deposits Payable 170,816             
Unearned Revenue 45,782               
Compensated Absences Payable 149,585             
Other Postemployment Benefits Payable 141,468             
Net Pension Liability 17,659               

   Total Current Liabilities 1,878,162           

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated Absences Payable 1,346,267           
Other Postemployment Benefits Payable 7,944,181           
Net Pension Liability 5,544,310           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 16,712,920         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Other Postemployment Benefits 3,180,683           
Pensions 8,359,876           
Lease Receivable 4,120,374           

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 15,660,933         

TOTAL NET POSITION 26,050,948$       
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Statement of Current Unrestricted Funds Revenues, 
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

REVENUES
Operating Revenues:

Student Tuition and Fees, Net of Scholarship
  Allowances of $6,640,133 1,607,971$         
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises 4,583,960           
Other Operating Revenues 77,193               

Total Operating Revenues 6,269,124           

EXPENSES
Operating Expenses:

Compensation and Employee Benefits 27,484,374         
Services and Supplies 13,230,925         
Utilities 893,565             
Scholarships and Waivers 10,243,304         

Total Operating Expenses 51,852,168         

Operating Loss (45,583,044)        

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State Noncapital Appropriations 42,752,100         
Federal and State Student Financial Aid 10,159,979         
Investment Income 125,186             
Other Nonoperating Revenues 238,813             
Unrealized Loss on Investments (1,671,999)          
Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt (4,369)                

Total Nonoperating Revenues 51,599,710         

Income Before Other Revenues 6,016,666           
Transfers to Other Funds (722,625)            

Increase in Net Position 5,294,041           

Net Position, Beginning of Year 20,756,907         

Net Position, End of Year 26,050,948$       
 

18. Subsequent Event 

Hurricane Ian hit the University on September 28, 2022, as a category 1 hurricane.  The University 

experienced a large amount of debris and fallen trees throughout the campus as well as a sustained roof 

system failure at our Florida Industrial and Phosphate Research Institute Campus in Bartow, Florida and 

our pergolas on the famous Innovation Science and Technology Building.  At this time, we are undergoing 

an engineering analysis to determine the extent of the damage and the current range of costs is between 

$2 and $10 million.  These buildings are insured through the State of Florida, and we have an open claim 

with the Federal Emergency Management Agency for this declared disaster.  We anticipate limited out of 

pocket costs and/or non-reimbursable costs.    
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OTHER REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share 
of the Total Other Postemployment Benefits Liability 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
University's proportion of the total other
   postemployment benefits liability 0.08% 0.07% 0.07% 0.04% 0.04%
University's proportionate share of the total other
   postemployment benefits liability 8,085,649$   7,545,998$   8,881,876$   4,221,000$   4,483,000$   
University's covered-employee payroll 17,807,624$ 18,132,610$ 17,932,326$ 16,978,875$ 15,360,481$ 
University's proportionate share of the total other
   postemployment benefits liability as a 
   percentage of its covered-employee payroll 45.41% 41.62% 49.53% 24.86% 29.19%
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Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability –  
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan   

      2021 (1)           2020 (1)           2019 (1)           2018 (1)      
University’s proportion of the FRS  
  net pension liability 0.027189017% 0.029058639% 0.030893631% 0.030207815% 
University’s proportionate share of 
  the FRS net pension liability $        2,053,821 $      12,594,441 $      10,639,336 $        9,095,857 
University’s covered payroll (2) $      17,320,547 $      18,132,610 $      17,932,326 $      16,978,875 
University’s proportionate share of 
  the FRS net pension liability as a 
  percentage of its covered payroll 11.86% 69.46% 59.33% 53.57% 
FRS Plan fiduciary net position as 
  a percentage of the FRS total 
  pension liability 96.40% 78.85% 82.61% 84.26% 

(1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30. 

(2) Covered payroll includes defined benefit plan actives, investment plan members, State university system optional retirement 
program members, and members in DROP because total employer contributions are determined on a uniform basis 
(blended rate) as required by Part III of Chapter 121, Florida Statutes. 

Schedule of University Contributions – Florida Retirement System Pension Plan 

      2022 (1)           2021 (1)           2020 (1)           2019 (1)      
Contractually required FRS 
  contribution $        1,199,750 $        1,035,784 $           968,383 $           957,925 
FRS contributions in relation to the 
  contractually required contribution         (1,199,750)         (1,035,784)            (968,383)            (957,925) 
FRS contribution deficiency 
  (excess) $                       - $                       - $                       - $                       - 
University’s covered payroll (2) $      17,807,624 $      17,320,547 $      18,132,160 $      17,932,326 
FRS contributions as a percentage 
  of covered payroll 6.74% 5.98% 5.34% 5.34% 

(1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30. 

(2) Covered payroll includes defined benefit plan actives, investment plan members, State university system optional retirement 
program members, and members in DROP because total employer contributions are determined on a uniform basis 
(blended rate) as required by Part III of Chapter 121, Florida Statutes.   
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      2017 (1)           2016 (1)           2015 (1)           2014 (1)           2013 (1)      

  
 

0.028494244% 
 

0.022832875% 
 

0.019998331% 
 

0.009648015% 
 

0.000813120% 
 
 $        8,428,407 $        5,765,319 $        2,583,054 $           588,671 $           139,974 
 $      15,360,481 $      11,660,838 $        8,912,958 $        4,212,980 $           348,928 

 
  

 
 

54.87% 

 
 

49.44% 

 
 

28.98% 

 
 

13.97% 

 
 

40.12% 
 
 
 

 
 

83.89% 

 
 

84.88% 

 
 

92.00% 

 
 

96.09% 

 
 

88.54% 

 

      2018 (1)           2017 (1)           2016 (1)           2015 (1)           2014 (1)      

  
 
$           860,898 

 
$           741,775 

 
$           563,074 

 
$           487,576 

 
$           211,332 

 
            (860,898)            (741,775)            (563,074)            (487,576)            (211,332) 
 
 $                       - $                       - $                       - $                       - $                       - 
 $      16,978,875 $      15,360,481 $      11,660,838 $        8,912,958 $        4,212,980 
 
 

 
5.07% 

 
4.83% 

 
4.83% 

 
5.47% 

 
5.02% 
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Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability –  
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan  

      2021 (1)           2020 (1)           2019 (1)           2018 (1)      
University’s proportion of the HIS 
  net pension liability 0.028599415% 0.030758026% 0.031324207% 0.031518639% 
University’s proportionate share of 
  the HIS net pension liability $        3,508,148 $        3,755,505 $        3,504,865 $        3,335,968 
University’s covered payroll (2) $      10,127,595 $      10,317,930 $      10,262,946 $        9,805,704 
University’s proportionate share of 
  the HIS net pension liability as a 
  percentage of its covered payroll 34.64% 36.40% 34.15% 34.02% 
HIS Plan fiduciary net position as 
  a percentage of the HIS total 
  pension liability 3.56% 3.00% 2.63% 2.15% 

(1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30. 

(2) Covered payroll includes defined benefit plan actives, investment plan members, and members in DROP.   

Schedule of University Contributions – Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan 

      2022 (1)           2021 (1)           2020 (1)           2019 (1)      
Contractually required HIS 
  contribution $           171,519 $           168,108 $           177,244 $           173,940 
HIS contributions in relation to the 
  contractually required HIS 
  contribution            (171,519)            (168,108)            (177,244)            (173,940) 
HIS contribution deficiency 
  (excess) $                       - $                       - $                       - $                       - 
University’s covered payroll (2) $      10,214,273 $      10,127,595 $      10,317,930 $      10,262,946 
HIS contributions as a percentage 
  of covered payroll 1.68% 1.66% 1.72% 1.69% 

(1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30. 

(2) Covered payroll includes defined benefit plan actives, investment plan members, and members in DROP.   
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      2017 (1)           2016 (1)           2015 (1)           2014 (1)           2013 (1)      
 
 

 
0.024197096% 

 
0.024197096% 

 
0.018486835% 

 
0.009545059% 

 
0.000943115% 

 
 $        3,241,124 $        2,820,072 $        1,885,366 $           892,486 $             82,111 
 $        9,232,755 $        7,298,830 $        5,391,296 $        2,508,042 $             55,192 
 
 
 

 
 

35.10% 

 
 

38.64% 

 
 

34.97% 

 
 

35.58% 

 
 

148.77% 
 
 
 

 
 

1.64% 

 
 

0.97% 

 
 

0.50% 

 
 

0.99% 

 
 

1.78% 

 

      2018 (1)           2017 (1)           2016 (1)           2015 (1)           2014 (1)      

  
 
$           170,926 

 
$           160,241 

 
$           121,161 

 
$             70,668 

 
$             32,698 

 
 
            (170,926)            (160,241)            (121,161)              (70,668)              (32,698) 
 
 $                       - $                       - $                       - $                       - $                       - 
 $        9,805,704 $        9,232,755 $        7,298,830 $        5,391,296 $        2,508,042 
 
 

 
1.74% 

 
1.74% 

 
1.66% 

 
1.31% 

 
1.30% 
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

1. Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Total Other Postemployment 
Benefits Liability   

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meet the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75 to 

pay related benefits.   

Changes of Assumptions.  The discount rate was updated to utilize the mandated discount rate based 

on a 20-year S&P Municipal Bond Rate Index as of the measurement date, as required under 

GASB Statement No. 75.  The discount rate decreased from 2.66 percent to 2.18 percent. 

Other changes of assumptions since the prior valuation were updates to retirement, termination, 

disability, and salary scale rates to those used in the actuarial valuation of the Florida Retirement System 

as of July 1, 2019, as well as the medical plan election percentages.  Refer to Note 10. in the notes to 

financial statements for further detail. 

2. Schedule of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Contributions –  
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan 

Changes of Assumptions.  In 2021, the maximum amortization period was decreased to 20 years for all 

current and future amortization bases. 

3. Schedule of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Contributions –  
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan 

Changes of Assumptions.  In 2021, the municipal rate used to determine total pension liability decreased 

from 2.21 percent to 2.16 percent.   
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Phone:  (850) 412-2722 
 Fax:  (850) 488-6975 

Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 
Auditor General 

 

AUDITOR GENERAL 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
Claude Denson Pepper Building, Suite G74 

111 West Madison Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450 

The President of the Senate, the Speaker of the 
 House of Representatives, and the 
  Legislative Auditing Committee 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 

Florida Polytechnic University, a component unit of the State of Florida, and its discretely presented 

component unit as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial 

statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements, and have issued our 

report thereon dated March 8, 2023, included under the heading INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT.  

Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the discretely 

presented component unit, as described in our report on the University’s financial statements.  This report 

does not include the results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting or 

compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.  

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University’s internal 

control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control.  

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 

misstatement of the University’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on 

a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
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that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 

with governance.   

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, rules, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 

effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 

was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of 

our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 

Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s 

internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control and compliance.  

Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 
Tallahassee, Florida 
March 8, 2023 



AGENDA ITEM: VI.E.  
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject:  University Information Technology (IT) Operational Audit  
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

 
Information only. No action required. 
 

Background Information 
 

The University uses the Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications (Workday®) to record, 
process, and report finance and human resources transactions.  Workday, Inc. hosts the 
University’s subscription to Workday® using Software as a Service and maintains and manages 
the supporting infrastructure.  The University uses the Comprehensive Academic Management 
Solution Enterprise system (CAMS®) to record student information.  The University maintains 
and manages the network domain supporting access to Workday®, CAMS®, and University IT 
infrastructure. 
 
This IT operational audit focused on evaluating selected significant University IT controls 
applicable to the Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications (Workday®) and University IT 
infrastructure during the period October 2021 through September 2022, and selected actions 
subsequent thereto.  For those areas addressed by this audit, our audit objectives were:   
 

• To determine the effectiveness of selected significant IT controls in achieving 
management’s objectives in the categories of compliance with controlling laws, 
administrative rules, and other guidelines; the confidentiality, integrity, availability, 
relevance, and reliability of data; and the safeguarding of IT resources.    

• To determine whether management had corrected, or was in the process of correcting, 
deficiencies disclosed in our report No. 2019-103.   

• To identify statutory and fiscal changes that may be recommended to the Legislature 
pursuant to Section 11.45(7)(h), Florida Statutes.  

 
This audit resulted in a public audit report (included) and a detailed audit report that is exempt 
from public inspection (to avoid the possibility of compromising the confidentiality of University 
data and related IT resources). 
 

 
 
Supporting Documentation: Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications Operational Audit. 
(Auditor General Report No. 2023-186) 

 
Prepared by: David A. Blanton, CAE/CCO 
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Board of Trustees and President  

During the period October 2021 through September 2022, Dr. Randy K. Avent served as President of 

Florida Polytechnic University and the following individuals served as Members of the Board of 

Trustees:  

Clifford �Cliff� K. Otto, Chair Dr. Laine Powell 
Beth Kigel, Vice Chair from 9-28-22 Melia Rodriguez from 4-28-22 b

R. Mark Bostick, Vice Chair through 9-27-22 Dr. W. Earl Sasser through 6-30-22 c

Dr. Ala J. Alnaser through 5-5-22 a Lyn D. Stanfield 
Samantha Ashby through 4-27-22 b Robert �Bob� W. Stork 
Dr. Narendra Kini Gary C. Wendt 
Dr. Susan LeFrancois from 5-6-22 a 

a Faculty Senate Chair. 
b Student Body President. 
c Trustee position was vacant 7-1-22, through 9-30-22. 

Note:  Two trustee positions were vacant for the entire period. 

The team leader was George W. Phillips, CISSP, CISA, CFE, and the audit was supervised by Heidi Burns, CPA, CISA. 

Please address inquiries regarding this report to Heidi Burns, CPA, CISA, Audit Manager, by e-mail at 

heidiburns@aud.state.fl.us or by telephone at (850) 412-2926. 

This report and other reports prepared by the Auditor General are available at: 

FLAuditor.gov 

Printed copies of our reports may be requested by contacting us at: 

State of Florida Auditor General 

Claude Pepper Building, Suite G74 111 West Madison Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1450 (850) 412-2722 
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FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications 

SUMMARY 

This operational audit of Florida Polytechnic University (University) focused on selected information 

technology (IT) controls applicable to the Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications and the University�s 

IT infrastructure, and a follow-up on findings noted in our report No. 2019-103.  Our audit disclosed the 

following: 

Finding 1: University security awareness training needs improvement to reduce the risk for University 

data to be compromised.  

Finding 2: Certain University IT security controls related to authentication, data recovery, configuration 

management, account management, and vulnerability management need improvement to ensure the 

confidentiality, integrity, and availability of University data and IT resources.  A similar finding related to 

account management was noted in our report No. 2019-103.  

BACKGROUND 

The Florida Polytechnic University (University) is part of the State university system of public universities, 

which is under the general direction and control of the Florida Board of Governors (BOG).  The University 

is directly governed by a Board of Trustees (Trustees) consisting of 13 members.  The Governor appoints 

6 citizen members and the BOG appoints 5 citizen members.  These members are confirmed by the 

Florida Senate and serve staggered 5-year terms.  The Faculty Senate Chair and Student Body President 

are also members.  The BOG establishes the powers and duties of the Trustees.  The Trustees are 

responsible for setting University policies, which provide governance in accordance with State law and 

BOG Regulations.  The University President is selected by the Trustees and confirmed by the BOG.  The 

University President serves as the executive officer and the corporate secretary of the Trustees and is 

responsible for administering the policies prescribed by the Trustees for the University. 

The University uses the Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications (Workday®) to record, process, and 

report finance and human resources transactions.  Workday, Inc. hosts the University�s subscription to 

Workday® using Software as a Service and maintains and manages the supporting infrastructure.  The 

University uses the Comprehensive Academic Management Solution Enterprise system (CAMS®) to 

record student information.  The University maintains and manages the network domain supporting 

access to Workday®, CAMS®, and University IT infrastructure. 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Finding 1: Security Awareness Training  

A comprehensive security awareness training program instructing all employees on the importance of 

preserving the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and IT resources entrusted to them is a 
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foundational control for security vigilance and a University�s prevention and mitigation of cybersecurity 

risks.  An effective security awareness program includes identification of the specific knowledge, skills, 

and abilities needed to support University security and educates all employees about how to interact with 

data and IT resources in a secure manner. 

Our examination of University policies, procedures, and records supporting employee security awareness 

and skills training disclosed that the University had implemented mandatory training using a third-party 

provided software.  Although the training addressed social engineering and security incident response, 

training on authentication and data handling best practices specific to University controls was not 

provided because the software could not be customized.  In response to our inquiry, University 

management indicated on February 11, 2023, that options to add training customization would be further 

evaluated with the provider.    

Effective security awareness training programs include authentication and data handling best practices 

and instructions to understand causes of unintentional data exposure.  The lack of a comprehensive 

security awareness training program increases the risk that employees may compromise the 

confidentiality, availability, and integrity of University data and IT resources.   

Recommendation: To reduce cybersecurity risks, University management should establish a 
comprehensive security awareness training program to ensure that employees are aware of their 
responsibilities and the importance of securing University data and IT resources.  

Finding 2: Security Controls - Authentication, Data Recovery, Configuration Management, 
Account Management, and Vulnerability Management  

Security controls are intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and IT 

resources.  Our audit procedures disclosed that certain security controls related to authentication, data 

recovery, configuration management, account management, and vulnerability management need 

improvement.  We are not disclosing specific details of the issues in this report to avoid the possibility of 

compromising the confidentiality of University data and related IT resources.  However, we have notified 

appropriate University management of the six findings in the five areas needing improvement.  A similar 

finding related to account management was noted in our report No. 2019-103. 

Without appropriate security controls related to authentication, data recovery, configuration management, 

account management, and vulnerability management, the risk is increased that the confidentiality, 

integrity, and availability of University data and related IT resources may be compromised. 

Recommendation: We recommend that University management improve IT security controls 
related to authentication, data recovery, configuration management, account management, and 
vulnerability management to ensure the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of University 
data and IT resources.  

PRIOR AUDIT FOLLOW-UP 

As discussed in Finding 2, the University had not taken corrective action for the finding included in our 

report No. 2019-103. 
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OBJECTIVES, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 

The Auditor General conducts operational audits of governmental entities to provide the Legislature, 

Florida�s citizens, public entity management, and other stakeholders unbiased, timely, and relevant 

information for use in promoting government accountability and stewardship and improving government 

operations. 

We conducted this information technology (IT) operational audit from August 2022 through February 2023 

in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards.  Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for the 

audit findings and our conclusions based on our audit objectives.  We believe that the evidence obtained 

provides a reasonable basis for the audit findings and our conclusions based on our audit objectives.   

This IT operational audit focused on evaluating selected significant University IT controls applicable to 

the Workday® Enterprise Cloud Applications (Workday®) and University IT infrastructure during the period 

October 2021 through September 2022, and selected actions subsequent thereto.  For those areas 

addressed by this audit, our audit objectives were:  

 To determine the effectiveness of selected significant IT controls in achieving management�s 
objectives in the categories of compliance with controlling laws, administrative rules, and other 
guidelines; the confidentiality, integrity, availability, relevance, and reliability of data; and the 
safeguarding of IT resources.   

 To determine whether management had corrected, or was in the process of correcting, 
deficiencies disclosed in our report No. 2019-103.  

 To identify statutory and fiscal changes that may be recommended to the Legislature pursuant to 
Section 11.45(7)(h), Florida Statutes. 

This audit was designed to identify, for the IT systems included within the scope of the audit, deficiencies 

in management�s internal controls that were significant to our audit objectives; instances of 

noncompliance with applicable governing laws, rules, or contracts; and instances of inefficient or 

ineffective operational policies, procedures, or practices.  The focus of this audit was to identify problems 

so that they may be corrected in such a way as to improve government accountability and efficiency and 

the stewardship of management.  Professional judgment has been used in determining significance and 

audit risk and in selecting the particular IT controls, legal compliance matters, and records considered. 

As described in more detail below, for the IT systems included within the scope of this audit, our audit 

work included, but was not limited to, communicating to management and those charged with governance 

the scope, objectives, timing, overall methodology, and reporting of the audit; obtaining an understanding 

of and evaluating the IT systems and related significant controls; exercising professional judgment in 

considering significance and audit risk in the design and execution of the research, interviews, tests, 

analyses, and other procedures included in the audit methodology; obtaining reasonable assurance of 

the overall sufficiency and appropriateness of the evidence gathered in support of the audit findings and 

our conclusions; and reporting on the results of the audit as required by governing laws and auditing 

standards. 

This audit included the selection and examination of IT system controls and records.  Unless otherwise 

indicated in this report, these items were not selected with the intent of statistically projecting the results, 
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although we have presented for perspective, where practicable, information concerning relevant 

population value or size and quantifications relative to the items selected for examination. 

An audit by its nature does not include a review of all records and actions of agency management, staff, 

and contractors and, as a consequence, cannot be relied upon to identify all instances of noncompliance, 

fraud, waste, abuse, or inefficiency. 

In conducting this audit, we:  

 Reviewed applicable laws, rules, and other guidelines to obtain an understanding of University 
organizational structure and regulatory requirements; reviewed University procedures, 
interviewed University personnel, and examined University records to obtain an understanding of 
University operations related to Workday® and IT infrastructure and to evaluate whether University 
operations were designed properly and operating effectively. 

 Evaluated the sufficiency of University controls and observed, documented, and tested key 
processes, procedures, and controls related to Workday® and University IT infrastructure, 
including authentication, backup and recovery, configuration of systems, logical controls, and 
inventory and vulnerability management. 

 Examined selected security settings related to University network infrastructure, externally facing 
applications, remote access systems, and other critical servers and devices to determine whether 
authentication controls were configured and enforced in accordance with IT best practices, 
including the use of multi-factor authentication.   

 Evaluated the effectiveness of University logical access controls assigned to the University 
network and selected network devices, including the periodic evaluation of assigned accounts.  

 Examined and evaluated the appropriateness of all accounts assigned administrator access 
privileges, as of August 30, 2022, within the four default network administrator system groups for 
the University root domain.   

 Examined and evaluated, as of August 30, 2022, the 142 root domain accounts not required to 
have a password change.   

 Examined and evaluated the appropriateness of all accounts assigned administrator access 
privileges, as of August 30, 2022, for the eight University high-risk network devices.   

 Examined and evaluated the appropriateness of all accounts assigned selected administrative 
access privileges, as of August 26, 2022, to 10 of the 16 critical member servers in the University 
root domain.   

 Examined and evaluated selected University patch management controls for operating systems 
and network devices to ensure secure configurations are maintained.  Specifically, we examined 
and evaluated: 

o 22 critical servers as of November 16, 2022, and the additional 2 critical servers as of 
December 14, 2022.  

o The 8 high-risk network devices as of October 26, 2022.   

 Evaluated University procedures and examined selected backup testing reports to determine the 
adequacy of the University data recovery procedures to restore University IT assets to a 
pre-incident trusted state.   

 Evaluated the effectiveness of University configuration management controls, including 
establishing and maintaining secure configurations; disabling insecure protocols; implementing 
firewalls or port filtering to protect network resources; and timely applying software updates and 
managing device end-of-life.   
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 Evaluated University procedures and examined selected records to determine the adequacy of 
University procedures for maintaining a software asset inventory and ensuring only authorized 
software is installed on the network.   

 Evaluated the effectiveness of University security awareness training.   

 Evaluated University procedures and examined selected scan reports and policies to evaluate 
the adequacy of University vulnerability management controls related to the IT infrastructure, 
including vulnerability assessment and remediation, malicious software identification, and 
malware defense.  

 Communicated on an interim basis with applicable officials to ensure the timely resolution of 
issues involving controls and noncompliance.  

 Performed various other auditing procedures, including analytical procedures, as necessary, to 
accomplish the objectives of the audit.  

 Prepared and submitted for management response the findings and recommendations that are 
included in this report and which describe the matters requiring corrective actions.  Management�s 
response is included in this report under the heading MANAGEMENT�S RESPONSE. 

AUTHORITY 

Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, provides that the Auditor General may conduct audits of the IT programs, 

activities, functions, or systems of any governmental entity created or established by law.  Pursuant to 

the provisions of Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, I have directed that this report be prepared to present 

the results of our IT operational audit. 

 
Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 

Auditor General 
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MANAGEMENT�S RESPONSE 
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AGENDA ITEM: VII.A.1.   
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject:  FPU-5.0084 Credit for Military Trainings, Courses, and Occupations 
 

 
Proposed Committee Actions 

 
1. Recommend approval of the proposed regulation FPU-5.0084 Credit for Military Trainings, 

Courses, and Occupations to the Board of Trustees. 
 
2. Recommend the repeal of policy FPU-5.0084AP Course Credit for Military Trainings and 

Courses to the Board of Trustees. 
 

Background Information 
 

The proposed regulation outlines the policy and process that enables students to earn 
appropriate academic college credit for college-level training and education acquired in the 
military. This regulation would replace the existing policy FPU-5.0084AP Course Credit for 
Military Trainings and Courses. The proposed regulation reflects updates to Board of 
Governors (BOG) Regulation 6.013 Military Veterans and Active Duty, including credit now 
being granted using the standard process and considerations outlined in the Articulation 
Coordinating Committee Policy Regarding the Evaluation and Awarding of Postsecondary 
Credit for Prior Military Training, Courses, and Occupations. 
 
The Notice of Proposed Regulation was posted on the University’s website on May 12, 2023. 
No comments were received during the review and comment period. 

 
 
Supporting Documentation:  
 
1. FPU-5.0084 Credit for Military Trainings, Courses, and Occupations – proposed 
2. FPU-5.0084AP Course Credit for Military Trainings and Courses - repeal 

 
Prepared by: Melaine Schmiz, Associate General Counsel  



THE FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FPU-5.0084 Credit for Military Training, Courses, and Occupations  
 

 
A. POLICY STATEMENT:  

This Regulation outlines the policy and process that enables students to earn appropriate 
academic college credit for college-level training and education acquired in the military. For 
purposes of this regulation, “student(s)” means any eligible student who is or was a member 
of the United States Armed Forces.  
 
The University will grant appropriate college credit to students with military experience in 
accordance with the standard process and considerations outlined in the Articulation 
Coordinating Committee Policy Regarding the Evaluation and Awarding of Postsecondary 
Credit for Prior Military Training, Courses, and Occupations. 
 
Credit awarded for military education and training is not counted in the excess hours fee per 
Florida Board of Governors’ regulation 7.003 Fees, Fines and Penalties. 
 
A copy of this regulation is on the University registrar’s webpage and in the University 
catalogs. 
 

B. PROCEDURES:  
 

1) A student wishing to receive credit for military training or education must request that the 
Registrar grant college credit for the student’s military training or coursework and 
provide the necessary information.  

2) The Registrar uses the Articulation Coordinating Committee Policy Regarding the 
Evaluation and Awarding of Postsecondary Credit for Prior Military Training, Courses, 
and Occupations.to determine equivalency and alignment of military training or 
coursework with appropriate University courses. 

3) If the University course to which the military training or coursework is equivalent fulfills 
a general education, major course, or degree program requirement, the course credit 
should be considered as meeting the appropriate requirement. Otherwise, appropriate 
course credit, including free elective course credit will be granted.  

4) The University accepts credit that was previously evaluated and awarded by a Florida 
public postsecondary degree granting institution that is applicable towards the student's 
major at the University, subject to University limits on the amount and level of transfer 
credit allowed for a given degree. Credits awarded by all other postsecondary institutions 
shall be accepted if those credits are consistent with the current Articulation Coordinating 
Committee Credit for Military Training Equivalency List. 

5) Credit awarded for military education and training will be noted on the student’s 
transcript, and documentation of the credit equivalency evaluation will be maintained in 
the student’s file. 
 

 
Authority:  BOG Reg 6.013; Sect. 39.205, Fla. Stat. 
History: New ______ 



FLORIDA OFFICIAL 
POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
UNIVERSITY                                                           POLICY 

 
Subject/Title:  Course Credit for Military Training and Courses 
FPU Policy Number: FPU-5.0084AP 
_ X_ New Policy  __ Major Revision of Policy  __ Minor Technical Revision of Policy 
Date First Adopted: September 9, 2015 
Date Revised:  
Responsible Division/Department: Academic Affairs 
Initiating Authority: Ghazi Darkazalli, Provost and Executive VP of Academic Affairs 

 
A. APPLICABILITY/ACCOUNTABILITY:  

This policy applies to all students who are or were eligible members of the United States 
Armed Forces. 
 

B. POLICY STATEMENT:  
College credit will be granted to students with military training or coursework that is 
recognized by the American Council on Education (ACE). Military training or coursework is 
subject to regular University transfer policies and procedures including limitations on the 
amount and level of transfer credit for a given degree.  
 
Credit awarded for military education and training is not counted in the excess hours fee per 
Florida Board of Governors’ regulation 7.003 Fees, Fines and Penalties due to the credit 
being based on work accomplished while serving in active-duty. 
 
A copy of this policy is on the University registrar’s website and in the University catalogs. 
 

C. PROCEDURES:  
 
1) A student wishing to receive credit for military training or coursework must request 

that the Registrar grant college credit for the student’s military training or coursework 
and provide the necessary information.  

2) The Registrar uses the ACE Guide to the Evaluation of Educational Experiences in 
the Armed Services to determine equivalency and alignment of military training or 
coursework with appropriate University courses. 

3) If the University course to which the military training or coursework is equivalent 
fulfills a general education, major course, or degree program requirement, the course 
credit should count towards graduation and fulfills the appropriate requirement.  

4) If the University course to which the military training or coursework is equivalent 
does not fulfill a general education, major course, or degree program requirement, 
then appropriate course credit, including free elective course credit, will be granted. 

5) The University accepts credit that was previously evaluated and awarded by a college 
degree granting institution and is appropriate to the transfer student's major at the 
University, subject to University limits on the amount and level of transfer credit 
allowed for a given degree. 



6) Credit awarded for military education and training will be noted on the student’s 
transcript, and documentation of the credit equivalency evaluation will be maintained 
in the student’s file. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Form: University Academic Policy Template 1- 6.17.13 

 

POLICY APPROVAL 
Policy No.: FPU-5.0084AP 
_______________________________________  ____________ 
Initiating Authority     Date 
_______________________________________  ____________ 
Policies & Procedures Committee Chair   Date 
_______________________________________  ____________ 
Vice President of Academic Affairs   Date 
_______________________________________  ____________ 
President/Designee     Date 
Approved by FPU BOT, if required   ____________ 
       Date 
 



AGENDA ITEM: VII.A.2.   
 

Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 

Subject:  FPU-5.0072 Examination and Assessment Instruments 
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

 
Recommend the approval of the proposed regulation FPU-5.0072 Examination and 
Assessment Instruments to the Board of Trustees. 
 

Background Information 
 

The proposed regulation aligns with Board of Governors (BOG) Regulation 3.005 Examination 
and Assessments and Section 1008.23, Florida Statutes. Section 1008.23, Florida Statutes 
exempts postsecondary examination and assessment instruments and directly related 
developmental materials and workpapers from disclosure to the public under Florida’s public 
records laws. The regulation establishes parameters that govern access, maintenance, and 
destruction of instruments and related materials.  
 

The Notice of Proposed Regulation was posted on the University’s website on May 12, 2023. 
No comments were received during the review and comment period. 

 
 
Supporting Documentation: FPU-5.0072 Examinations and Assessment Instruments 

 
Prepared by:  Melaine Schmiz, Associate General Counsel  



THE FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FPU-5.0072 Examination and Assessment Instruments  
 
1) All examination and assessment instruments, including developmental materials and 

workpapers directly related thereto, that are prepared, prescribed or administered by the 
University are confidential exempt from disclosure under section 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, 
and section 24(a), Article I, Florida Constitution, as provided in section 1008.23, Florida 
Statutes and Board of Governors Regulation 3.005 Examination and Assessment Instruments. 
 

2) Examination and assessment instruments that have been completed by a student are student 
records and subject to the disclosure restrictions in FPU-3.001 Confidentiality of Student 
Records and Applicant Records and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, 
as amended, (“FERPA”). 

 
3) This regulation governs the access, maintenance and destruction of examination and 

assessment instruments and related developmental materials and workpapers for all 
University academic units, testing centers, technology services, and online curriculum 
management systems. 

 
a) The University protects the security and confidentiality of examination and assessment 

instruments from unauthorized access or disclosure through encrypted electronic means 
or secure storage. 

b) Third-party contractors responsible for administering or proctoring examinations or 
assessments must comply with this regulation.  

c) Examination and assessment instruments are maintained and destroyed in accordance 
with applicable General Records Schedules and University regulations, policies, and 
procedures.  

d) Access to, or authorized disclosure of, examination and assessment instruments to 
faculty, staff, and students outside of the regular examination or testing process is 
generally not permitted. However, faculty, in their reasonable discretion or as otherwise 
directed by the Provost’s office, may share examination and assessment instruments with 
appropriate University personnel.    
 

 
 
Authority: Section 7(d), art. IX, Fla. Const.; Section 1008.23, Florida Statutes. BOG Regulation 
3.005  History: New ## 
 



AGENDA ITEM: VIII.       
Florida Polytechnic University 

Governance, Audit, and Compliance Committee 

Board of Trustees 

June 7, 2023 
 
 

Subject:   President’s Operational Goals for FYE24
 

 
Proposed Committee Action 

 
Review President’s proposed Operational Goals for FYE24 to make a recommendation to the 
Board of Trustees.  

Background Information 
 
Pursuant to the Policy on Annual Review of the President, the Board of Trustees must set 
specific annual goals for the upcoming fiscal year. 
 
The President submitted his Operational Goals FYE24 to Chair Otto and Committee Chair 
Bostick. The Governance Committee needs to discuss the goals with the President and 
approve the proposed goals so that they may be recommended to the Trustees for final 
approval. 
 

 
Supporting Documentation: Operational Goals FYE24 
 
Prepared by: Dr. Randy K. Avent, President  



Operational Goals FYE24

Randy K. Avent
7 June 2022



Balanced Scorecard

ACADEMIC ENTERPRISE TRANSFORM STUDENT LIVES ENGINE OF INNOVATION CAMPUS OPERATIONS

Outcomes:
(Accountability)

• % graduates employed or enrolled
• Median wages for BS grad
• % UG programs strategic areas (x2)
• % G programs STEM and health (x2)

• FTIC 4-yr grad rate, 6-yr grad rate
• Academic Progress Rate
• % BS degrees w/o excess hours, degree time
• Average cost to student
• University access rate

• Research expenditures
• Headcount

• Faculty-to-Administration ratio
• Cost of Engineering Degree

INVESTORS (INDUSTRY) STUDENTS INVESTORS (STATE) INVESTORS (STATE)

Consumers:
(Impressions)

STUDENTS

LEADERSHIP & DEVELOPMENT

CURRICULUM/PROGRAMS

STUDENT WELL-BEING

FACULTY DEVELOPMENT

INDUSTRY INTERACTIONS

ACADEMIC SUCCESS

FACULTY RESEARCH

STUDENT ENGAGEMENT

ENTREPRENEURSHIPProcesses:
(Control “knobs”)

FACILITIES BUSINESS PROCESSES TECHNOLOGY LAND DEVELOPMENT 

EMPLOYEES

Foundation:
(Basics)

UNIVERSITY ADVANCEMENT

• “Check Engine” dashboard aligned to new strategic plan
• Increased funding this year allows broader coverage

• Industry surveys re: internship 
experiences

• Noel Levitz surveys
• NSSE surveys

• Legislative surveys • Legislative surveys



Accountability Metrics

• Alignment with Approved Goals in FY23 Accountability Plan 
and new University Strategic Plan



Performance Funding Strategies

• Florida Poly FY22 Performance Based Funding (PBF) score 
required a Student Success Plan be implemented in FY23

– Required significant emphasis and investments in FY23
– Resulting plan will be supported and expanded in FY24

• Academic Affairs will launch two new initiatives this year aimed at 
stabilizing our Performance Based Funding scores

– Our Academic Progress Rate and 4-year Graduation Rate metrics cannot compete 
with comprehensive universities leading to an over reliance on improvement points

– Both initiatives are stretch metrics and provide an organizing principle for strategic 
intentions

– Both initiatives form the basis for operational items in “Growing the Academic 
Enterprise” and “Transforming Student Lives”

• GET 90! will achieve a 90% Academic Progress Rate
• GET 50! will achieve a 50% 4-year Graduation Rate



Academic Affairs Initiatives

• GET 90!
– Admissions: Targeted recruiting, message alignment, enhanced summer experience, …
– Academic support: Improved Peer Learning Strategies (PLS), freshman council, student 

success tracking and intervention, emphasis on first 3 weeks, robust calculus placement, 
programming pilot, …

– Faculty instruction: Lower cap in math courses, faculty instructional development, …

• GET 50!
– Academic support: Structured/targeted learning support for middle years, “pick your 

major” fairs, undergraduate research opportunities, professional certifications, transfer 
student center, Pell student support programs, …

– Leadership and Professional Development: Sophomore and up leadership 
opportunities, student worker training, internship program enhancements, goal oriented 
academic and social clubs, …

– Faculty instruction: Engagement sequence support, instructional support, …



Outline

• Introduction

• Grow the Academic Enterprise

• Transform Students’ Lives

• Become an Engine of Innovation

• Improve Campus Operations

• Summary



Grow the Academic Enterprise
• Programs and curriculum

– Grow and refresh concentrations that attract undergraduate student growth
– Propose minimum of two new retreat majors that align with our mission
– Provide “skills” training through professional certifications in each major
– Grow graduate program pathways (coursework only, thesis)
– Implement 4+1 program with recruiting pathways for Florida Poly students

• Faculty
– Recruit key departmental leadership
– Improve recruiting processes through conference participation, updated faculty pages,…
– Appropriately staff departments and build enabling infrastructure
– Provide professional development opportunities in teaching excellence and consistency

• Students
– Align website to showcase degrees and concentrations
– Increase participation in college fairs; align name buys and increase digital outreach
– Increase scholarship and provide improved net cost information
– Develop two transfer relationships with state colleges with advising plans for our degree



Transform Students’ Lives

• Academic success
– Improve Peer Learning Strategies effort to impact more freshman students
– Expand learning support the “middle” division
– Build transfer student center, improve Pell student support programs
– Enhance the summer experience; emphasis on the first three weeks
– Introduce robust calculus placement, programming pilot, lower caps in math courses

• Leadership & Professional Development
– Expand current leadership development training to all student workers
– Develop a visiting speaker series and industry shadowing program 
– Create committee to hire national consultant to help develop tailored activities that 

match our student body needs; improve career services and academic/social clubs
– Hire staff to execute against committee recommendations

• Engage campus community
– Create a residential campus culture by building residential leasing and operations
– Pilot an Undergraduate Research program, highlight student research results
– Create five “Activities of Excellence” programs led by faculty & staff
– Create taskforce to consider expanded athletic fields and recreation complex



Become Engine of Innovation

• Industry
– Create institute that studies the flow of university research into industry and use that 

to become a state thought leader on growing a high-tech industry in Florida
– Strengthen university interactions with industry (advisory boards, faculty 

connections, project support, …)

• Research
– Provide programs to faculty in proposal development and writing skills
– Develop and implement plan to purchase critical instrumentation 
– Fund the graduate level research experience, investigate thesis publishing software
– Enhance library access to critical publications needed for research
– Fund graduate seminars program and seed grants

• Entrepreneurship
– Examine best practices in IP policies to promote entrepreneurship

• Land development
– Develop Williams/Campus history project & interactive display
– Continue collaborating with Williams on surrounding land development



Improve Campus Operations
• Complete campus construction projects

– Complete IFF Citrus Research Center 
– Complete and open Residence Hall 3 in August, 2024
– Begin construction of the Gary Wendt Engineering Building
– Begin construction of the Public Safety & Facilities Complex
– Begin programming and design of the Student Achievement Center

• Enhance the IT infrastructure
– Begin implementation of the new Student Information System (SIS) with  

realignment of adjacent systems 
– Begin major overhaul of business processes optimized via Workday
– Achieve compliance with IT-related risks mitigation best practices
– Establish next-generation network infrastructure connecting main campus to 

regional, national, and global education and research networks

• Employees
– Implement Leadership Academy for staff leadership positions
– Conduct and implement a Title & Total Compensation (TTC) study
– Evaluate Performance Assessment process



Improve Campus Operations

• Business processes
– Budget engineering (zero-based budget, forecasting, modeling, …)
– Implement maverick spending project
– Implement courier services taskforce
– Build a strategic plan for improving auxiliary functions (parking, food 

services, bookstore, STEM summer camps, …)
– Conduct taskforce to ensure compliance with new legislation
– Conduct taskforce to review all regulations, policies and processes
– Improve risk management processes

• Advance the University
– Improve infrastructure for university events
– Conduct a targeted branding and marketing campaign
– Grow relationships and involvement with community and industry



Summary

• Continued strong emphasis on student success to mitigate 
reliance on PBF improvement points

• Strong funding allows the institution to focus on reducing 
long-term operational costs with improvements to the IT 
infrastructure and business operations

• Continued strong focus on academic and student growth 
while methodically growing economic impact through 
research, graduate programs, and industry relationships
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